
   

  
  

  

OMAHA-COUNCIL BLUFFS METROPOLITAN AREA PLANNING AGENCY 

2222 Cuming Street, Omaha 

(402) 444-6866 

 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

Thursday, March 29, 2018 1:30 p.m. 

 

AGENDA 

  

This meeting of the Metropolitan Area Planning Agency Board of Directors will be conducted in compliance with the Nebraska Statues of 

the Open Meetings Act. For reference, the Open Meetings Act is posted on the wall of the Board Room.  

   

 A.   ROLL CALL / INTRODUCTIONS   

   

B. BOARD MINUTES of the February 22, 2018 meeting.   (ACTION)   Item B 

  

C. FINANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES of the March 21, 2018 meeting.   (ACTION)   Item C 

   

D. AGENCY REPORTS & PRESENTATIONS  –  (INFO)   

  

 1.  AGENCY REPORTS  

a. Executive Director’s Report  

b. Heartland 2050 Report  

 

 E.  PUBLIC COMMENTS – See Footnote   

   

 F.  CONSENT AGENDA – (ACTION)  

Any individual item may be removed by a Board Member for special discussion and consideration. Unless there is an exception, 

these items will be approved as one with a single vote of the Board of Directors.  

  

 1.  CONTRACT AMENDMENT – Mills County, NRDR Phase 1 and 2 Infrastructure - Amendment 1   Item F.1 

 
2. FINAL CONTRACT PAYMENT – Lovgren – $1,588.07   Item F.2 

 

 G.  OLD BUSINESS   

    

1. FY 2018 TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM (TIP) AMENDMENT #5 – (ACTION)    Item G.1 

The Board will consider approval of amendment #5 to the FY 2018 TIP.  

 

   

 H.  NEW BUSINESS   

  

1. NEW CONTRACTS – (ACTION)     

The Board will consider approval of the contracts listed below. 
a. Council Bluffs Housing Trust Fund   Item H.1.a 

b. Lovgren Marketing ‘Little Steps. Big Impact.’ - $205, 945.00   Item H.1.b 

 
2. DRAFT FY 2019 UNIFIED PLANNING WORK PROGRAM (UPWP) – (ACTION)    Item H.2 

The Board will consider for approval the FY 2019 UPWP. 

 



3. 2018 – 2021 DRAFT TITLE VI PLAN – (ACTION)    Item H.3 

The Board will consider for approval the latest plan for Title VI and American’s with Disabilities Act compliance.  

 

4. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S ANNUAL APPRAISAL – (ACTION) 

Chairperson Sanders will provide information on the Executive Director’s annual performance appraisal. The Board will 

consider approval of Board Chair’s recommendations.  

 

I. ADDITIONAL BUSINESS   

 

J. DISCUSSION   

 

1. REGIONAL PLANNING ADVISORY COMMITTEE  – (DISCUSSION)     Item J.1 

Mr. Greg Youell will request feedback from Board members on a proposed new Regional Planning Advisory Committee and 

Sub-Committee structure.  

  

 K.  ADJOURNMENT   

 

 

Future Meetings/Events:  

Council of Officials Meeting at Riverside Pavilion, Council Bluffs, IA: April 11, 2018 

Finance Committee: Wednesday, April 18, 2018  

Board of Directors: Thursday, April 26, 2018  

National Conference of Regions 52nd Annual Conference & Exhibition – Orlando, FL: June 3-6, 2018  

 

Executive Session: The MAPA Board of Directors reserves the right to enter into an executive session in order to 

protect the public interest with respect to discussion regarding litigation and personnel.    

  

* Individuals interested in addressing the MAPA Board of Directors during the Public Comment period about agenda items should identify 

themselves by name and address before speaking. Individuals interested in addressing the MAPA Board of Directors regarding nonagenda 

items must sign the request to speak list located in the Board Room prior to the beginning of the meeting.     

Requests to speak may also be made to MAPA in writing by regular U.S. mail or email (mapa@mapacog.org) provided that requests are 

received by close of business on the day prior to the meeting.  Speakers will be limited to three minutes.  The presiding officer shall have 

authority to limit discussion or presentation by members and non-members of the Board of Directors or to take other appropriate actions 

necessary to conduct all business in an orderly manner.     



 

                                                                  Approved by________________________________________  
  Patrick Bloomingdale, Secretary/Treasurer  

OMAHA-COUNCIL BLUFFS METROPOLITAN AREA PLANNING AGENCY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING 

Minutes 
February 22, 2018 

 
The Board of Directors met at the MAPA offices, 2222 Cuming Street, Omaha. Chairwoman Sanders called the meeting to 
order at 1:33 p.m. 

 
A. ROLL CALL/INTRODUCTIONS 
 

Members/Officers Present   
Rita Sanders (Chair) Mayor, City of Bellevue/Chair 
Troy Anderson (rep. Mayor Jean Stothert) Deputy Chief of Staff, City of Omaha 
Patrick Bloomingdale MAPA Secretary/Treasurer, Douglas County 
Clare Duda Douglas County Commissioner 
Tom Hanafan (Vice-Chair) Pottawattamie County Board of Supervisors  
Doug Kindig NE Small Cities/Counties Representative (Mayor, City of La Vista) 
Vinny Palermo Omaha City Council 
Matt Walsh Mayor, City of Council Bluffs 
 
Members/Officers Absent 
Gary Mixan Sarpy County Commissioner 
Carol Vinton IA Small Cities/Counties Representative (Mills County Board of Supervisors) 
 
MAPA Staff 

 Court Barber  Christina Brownell Sue Cutsforth Melissa Engel Mike Helgerson 
 Karna Loewenstein Greg Youell Alex Zuniga 
 
 Guest 
 Kyle Andersen – City of Omaha 
 Donna Barry – Office of Senator Chuck Grassley 
 
B. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES of the January 25, 2018 meeting – (Action)  
 
 MOTION by Hanafan, SECOND by Duda to approve the minutes of the January 25, 2018 meeting of the Board of Directors.  
 
 AYES:  Anderson, Duda, Hanafan, Kindig, Palermo, Sanders, Walsh 
 NAYS:  None.  
 ABSTAIN:  None. 
 MOTION CARRIED.  
  
C. APPROVAL OF FINANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES AND REPORT – (Action) 
 
 Mr. Patrick Bloomingdale reported that the Finance Committee met on February 14, 2018 and approved bills for January, reviewed 

December financial statements and approved contract payments. Items were forwarded to the Board of Directors for approval. 
  
 MOTION by Duda, SECOND by Kindig to approve the minutes of the February 14, 2018 Finance Committee meeting. 
   
 AYES:  Anderson, Duda, Hanafan, Kindig, Palermo, Sanders, Walsh 
 NAYS:  None.  
 ABSTAIN:  None. 
 MOTION CARRIED. 
 
D. AGENCY REPORTS & PRESENTATIONS – (Info) 

 
1. Agency Reports –  

 
a. Executive Directors Report - Greg Youell, Executive Director 

 



 
 
  

 

 Mr. Youell provided an update to the Board on MAPA activities for the month of January. Mr. Youell’s Executive Report 
included updates on the Cass County; President Trump’s Infrastructure Plan; MAPA’s trip to D.C.; Traffic Growth Reports; 
Environmental Trust Funding for LSBI; LRTP Coordination; Performance Reviews; and Community Development Projects 
(CDBG, CITIES and REAP trail applications). Mr. Youell also updated the Board on ongoing projects including the Bellevue 
Bridge Study; Transit ROI; Hwy 75/16th Street Eppley Connector Bridge; and Highway 75 Platt River Bridge Bike Path.      

 
b. Heartland 2050 –  
 Ms. Loewenstein provided an update to the Board on Heartland 2050 activities for the month of January and gave updates 

on upcoming events including the Heartland 2050 Summit and private reception with Paul Schmitz, CEO of Leading Inside 
Out. The Summer Summit will be held in June 6 – 7, 2018 and will be a roll-out of the Regional Equity Growth Profile. This 
year’s site visit destination is set and the delegation will be attending the “Rail-volution Conference” in Pittsburgh, October 
21 – 24, 2018. 
 

E. PUBLIC COMMENT –  
 

None. 
 
F. CONSENT AGENDA – (Action) 
 
 The Board considered Consent Agenda items listed below for approval.  
 

1. Contract Amendment – SWIPCO extended to June 30, 2018 

 
2. Travel – NARC 52nd Annual Conference & Exhibition – Orlando, FL – June 3-6, 2018 – 3 MAPA Staff and up to 4 Board Members 

- $15,115.45   

 
MOTION by Duda, SECOND by Walsh to approve all items listed on the Consent Agenda.    

 
 AYES:  Anderson, Duda, Hanafan, Kindig, Palermo, Sanders, Walsh 
 NAYS:  None.  
 ABSTAIN:  None. 
 MOTION CARRIED. 
 
G. OLD BUSINESS  

 
1. FY 2018 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) Amendment #4 – (Action)  

 
Mr. Barber presented to the Board for approval the FY 2018 TIP Amendment #4. Amendments include updates to the following: 
Omaha Resurfacing Program; 2018 Omaha Resurfacing Program; Omaha Signal Infrastructure – Phase A1.  
 
MOTION by Walsh, SECOND by Kindig to approve the FY 2018 TIP Amendment #4.    
    
AYES:  Anderson, Duda, Hanafan, Kindig, Palermo, Sanders, Walsh 
NAYS:  None.  
ABSTAIN:  None. 
MOTION CARRIED. 
 
2. FY 2018 Work Program/UPWP Amendment #3 – (Action)  

 
Mr. Youell presented to the Board for approval FY-18 UPWP Amendment #3. This amendments include an update to the budget. 
 
MOTION by Duda, SECOND by Walsh to approve the UPWP Amendment #3.    
    
AYES:  Anderson, Duda, Hanafan, Kindig, Palermo, Sanders, Walsh 
NAYS:  None.  
ABSTAIN:  None. 
MOTION CARRIED. 

  



 
 
  

 

 
H. NEW BUSINESS 

 
1. New Contract – Smart Growth in America – Complete Streets – $12,500 (Action) 

 
Mr. Youell presented to the Board for approval the new contract listed above.  
 
MOTION by Hanafan, SECOND by Duda to approve the new contract Smart Growth in America – Complete Streets - $12,500.     
    
AYES:  Anderson, Duda, Hanafan, Kindig, Palermo, Sanders, Walsh 
NAYS:  None.  
ABSTAIN:  None. 
MOTION CARRIED. 

 
2. FY 2019 Preliminary Funds Budget – (Action)  

 

Mr. Youell presented to the Board for approval the FY 2019 Preliminary Funds Budget.   
 
MOTION by Kindig, SECOND by Hanafan to approve FY 2019 Preliminary Funds Budget.  
    
AYES:  Anderson, Duda, Hanafan, Kindig, Palermo, Sanders, Walsh 
NAYS:  None.  
ABSTAIN:  None. 
MOTION CARRIED. 

 
3. Safety Performance Measures Target Setting – (Action) 

 
Mr. Helgerson presented to the Board for approval the Safety Performance Measures Target Setting.   
 
MOTION by Hanafan, SECOND by Kindig to approve the Safety Performance Measures Target Setting.    
    
AYES:  Anderson, Duda, Hanafan, Kindig, Palermo, Sanders, Walsh 
NAYS:  None.  
ABSTAIN:  None. 
MOTION CARRIED. 

 
I. ADDITIONAL BUSINESS 

 
1. Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) Fee – (Information)  

 
Mr. Youell updated the Board on the TIP Fee meetings and discussions and feedbacks during those meetings.  

 
J.  DISCUSSION 

 
None.   
 

K.  ADJOURNMENT 
   
 Chairwoman Sanders adjourned the meeting at 2:15 p.m. 
 



 
  

METROPOLITAN AREA PLANNING AGENCY 
2222 Cuming Street 

Omaha NE 68102-4328 
Finance Committee 

            March 21, 2018 
 
The MAPA Finance Committee met March 21, 2018, in the MAPA conference room. Patrick Bloomingdale called the meeting 
to order at 8:30 a.m.  
 
ROLL CALL 
 
Members Present    Staff Present     
Patrick Bloomingdale, Secretary/Treasurer    Natasha Barrett  
Steve Dethlefs, Washington County    Melissa Engel 
Clare Duda, Douglas County     Don Gross 
Tom Hanafan, Pottawattamie County                        Amanda Morales   
Gary Mixan, Sarpy County (Arrived at 8:37 a.m.)    Greg Youell 
Carol Vinton, Mills County  
         
  
A. Monthly Financial Statements (January 2018) 
 

1. Bank Reconciliation (American National Bank) and Statements on Investments 
2. Receipts and Expenditures 
3. Schedule of Accounts Receivable/ Accounts Payable 
4. Statement of Financial Position 
5. Statements of Revenues and Expenditures 

 
Ms. Engel presented the January financials.  As requested by Ms. Vinton the format of The Statement of Revenue and 
Expenditures has been revised to include prior year to date values and the percentage of variance year to date compared to 
prior year to date. Contracted projects vary from year to year so these expenses will skew the comparison of the net 
surplus/deficit from current year to prior year as explained by Ms. Engel. 
 
B. FOR FINANCE COMMITTEE APPROVAL 
 

1. Contract Payments 
a. HDR Engineering – PMT # 1 - $1,755.33b. City of Omaha Planning – PMT #1 - $33.903.22 
b. Intercultural Senior Center – PMT # 1 - $3,975.00d. Douglas County GIS – PMT# 2 - $27,549.52 
c. Council Bluffs – PMT # 1 –$45,833.00 
 

Mr. Youell presented the contract payments.  HDR Engineering provided on-call travel demand modeling services to MAPA 
between January 04, and February 04, 2018.  The Intercultural Senior Center is requesting reimbursement for personnel 
expenses incurred December 01, 2017 through February 28, 2018, for transportation services provided to immigrant and 
refugee seniors.  The City of Council Bluffs payment is for their contracted paratransit services October 1, 2017 through 
January 31, 2018, serving the elderly and disabled citizens of Council Bluffs.   
 
MOTION Duda SECOND by Hanafan, to approve the contract payments as presented. MOTION CARRIED. 
 
C.  RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD 
 

1.  Final Contract Payments  
a. Lovgren - $1,588.07 
        

Mr. Youell presented Lovgren’s final reimbursement requests are for their January 2018 expenses related to the 2017 CMAQ 
Air Quality and Reduced Fare Program. 
 
MOTION Duda SECOND by Vinton to recommend that the Board of Directors approve Lovgren’s final contract payment as 
presented. MOTION CARRIED. 
 

2. New Contracts 
  a.    Council Bluffs Housing Trust Fund 
 



Mr. Gross presented the Council Bluffs Housing Trust Fund (CBHTF) contract.  MAPA will provide CBHTF with the following 
professional services:   

 Assistance in grant writing to fully comply with Iowa Finance Authority (IFA) requirements 

 Provide accounting, billing, and reporting services  

 Provide project and contract management 

 Communicate with CBHTF Board members, attend their board meetings no less than quarterly 

 Follow-up to issues and activities identified by the CBHTF Board 

 Prepare documents on policies and initiatives identified by the CBHTF Board 

 Assist in creating and maintaining of program management systems 

 Other administrative and support services as the parties agree 
The contract is effective through March 01, 2020.  MAPA will receive 10% of CBHTF’s annual State Housing Trust Fund 
grant award allocated through IFA.  The contract services are estimated to take a MAPA staff member twenty hours per 
month to complete. 
 
MOTION Hanafan SECOND by Duda to recommend that the Board of Directors approve the Council Bluffs Housing Trust 
Fund contract as presented. MOTION CARRIED. 

 
b.    Lovgren Marketing LSBI - $205,945.00 

 
Mr. Youell presented the Lovgren Marketing contract for the “Little Steps Big Impact Ozone Awareness Campaign” under the 
2018 CMAQ Air Quality and Reduced Fare Program.  The completion date for this $205,945, agreement is June 30, 2019.  
Mr. Duda asked about the process utilized for Lovgren to be awarded the current contract.  Mr. Youell stated that MAPA did 
complete a Request for Proposal (RFP) process. 
 
MOTION Vinton SECOND by Duda to recommend that the Board of Directors approve the Lovgren Marketing contract as 
presented. MOTION CARRIED. 
 

3. FY 2019 Budget  
a.     DRAFT Work Program/UPWP  

 
Mr. Youell presented the FY 2019 draft Work Program/UPWP outlining the transportation budget by work activity and funding 
source.  The total transportation funding projected for FY 2019, is $4,309,297, of which $1,074.690 is local match   MAPA’s 
2019 total budget of $5,640,975 was also provided to the committee, with work activity and funding source broken down into 
three categories: Transportation, Community & Economic Development, or Heartland 2050 (Non-federal transportation). 
  
MOTION Duda SECOND by Vinton to recommend that the Board of Directors approve the FY 2019 draft Work Program 
/UPWP as presented. MOTION CARRIED. 
 
D. DISCUSSION/INFORMATION 

1. TIP Fee 
 

Mr. Youell provided the committee with information on a Transportation Improvement Project (TIP) fee, and how it would help 
the region, and discussed the proposed Interlocal Agreement amendment to include a TIP fee.  MAPA would collect a fee 
equivalent to 1% of federal funds on all eligible projects programmed in the implementation year of the TIP.  Eligible projects 
over $10 million in federal funds would be assessed a tiered fee with 1% charged on the first $10 million and .05% charged 
on every dollar over $10 million in federal funding.  The proposed TIP fee must be paid with non-federal funds according to 
federal matching requirements.  All Council of Officials members would need to vote on Interlocal Agreement amendment 
with 75% approval for implementation. 
 

2. Cass County Update 
 
Mr. Youell reported that Cass County becoming a member of MAPA is currently on hold. The bill to change the boundaries 
was not ultimately prioritized and will not be presented for a vote of the entire legislature.  The opposition of Southeast 
Nebraska Development District (SENDD) contributed to the delay.  Mr. Youell reached out to the Executive Director of 
SENDD to negotiate a deal.  If opposition was withdrawn, MAPA would compensate SENDD $6,700 in the first year, $5,000 
in the second year and $2,500 in the third year. SENDD’s Executive Committee recommended accepting the financial offer 
and requested written commitment of the MAPA Board to not allow future membership of any of SENDD’s remaining 
counties. A final agreement was not negotiated within the time-line to place the bill on consent.  SENDD’s Executive Director 
has told Mr. Youell that he is willing to work together moving forward to resolve the issue.   
 
E. OTHER 
 

G. ADJOURNMENT 

 
The meeting adjourned at 9:18 a.m.  



THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into the 26th day of January, 2017, by and between Mills County, 
Iowa, by its Board of Supervisors (hereinafter the “County"), and the Omaha-Council Bluffs Metropolitan 
Area Planning Agency, (hereinafter the "Planning Agency"); (hereinafter collectively the “Parties”) 
WITNESSETH THAT: 
 
WHEREAS, The Planning Agency hereby amends the above referenced contract. The Planning Agency 
initiated amendment is a result of recommendations by the Iowa Economic Development Authority 
(IEDA). 
 
WHEREAS, Federal Laws will be amended to also state additional federal regulations.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties hereto have agreed to amend the Agreement as hereafter stated: 
 
I. The contractor agrees to comply with all the requirements of Section 6002 of the Resource 

Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA), as amended (42 U.S.C. 6962), including but not limited 
to the regulatory provisions of 40 CFR Part 247, and Executive Order 12873, as they apply to 
the procurement of the items designated in Subpart B of 40 CFR Part 247. 
 

II. ALL CONTRACTS IN EXCESS OF $100,000 
In addition to the preceding provisions, contracts in excess of $100,000 shall require 
compliance with the following laws and regulations: 

Section 306 of the Clean Air Acts (42 U.S.C. 1857(h)). 
Section 508 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 1368). 
Executive Order 11738. 

  
Clean Air and Water Acts - required clauses:  

  
This clause is required in all third party contracts involving projects subject to the Clean Air Act 
(42 U.S.C. 1857 et seq.), the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq.), and 
the regulations of the Environmental Protection Agency with respect to 40 CFR Part 15, as 
amended. It should also be mentioned in the bid document. 
 
During the performance of this contract, the CONTRACTOR agrees as follows: 

(1) The CONTRACTOR will certify that any facility to be utilized in the performance of any 
nonexempt contract or subcontract is not listed on the Excluded Party Listing System 
pursuant to 40 CFR 32.  

(2) The CONTRACTOR agrees to comply with all the requirements of Section 114 of the 
Clean Air Act, as amended, (42 U.S.C. 1857c-8) and Section 308 of the Federal Water 
Pollution Control Act, as amended (33 U.S.C. 1318) relating to inspection, monitoring, 
entry, reports, and information, as well as all other requirements specified in said 
Section 114 and Section 308, and all regulations and guidelines issued thereunder.  

(3) The CONTRACTOR agrees that as a condition for the award of the contract, prompt 
notice will be given of any notification received from the Director, Office of Federal 
Activities, Environmental Protection Agency, indicating that a facility utilized or to be 
utilized for the contract is under consideration to be listed on the Excluded Party 
Listing System.  

(4) The CONTRACTOR agrees that it will include or cause to be included the criteria and 
requirements in Paragraph (1) through (4) of this section in every nonexempt 



subcontract and require every subcontractor to take such action as the Government 
may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this instrument to be executed by their duly 
authorized representatives. 
 
Mills County, Iowa: 
 
By:        Date: ____ / ____ / ____ 
 
Attested By:       Date: ____ / ____ / ____ 
 
 
Omaha-Council Bluffs Metropolitan Area Planning Agency: 
 
By:        Date: ____ / ____ / ____ 
 
Attested by:       Date: ____ / ____ / ____ 
 







Amendment 5 - Proposed

Effective Date 03/29/2018

Revisions
Project Name Date Description

Valley D.C. Safe
Routes to School

03/13/2018 This project is updated to show matching funds as coming from the State of
Nebraska instead of the City of Valley for phases in FY2018. The amount of
funding has not changed.

OPS McMillan
Middle School
SRTS Project

03/13/2018 This project is updated to show matching funds as coming from the State of
Nebraska instead of the City of Omaha for phases in FY2018. The amount of
funding has not changed.

Westbrook Safe
Routes To School

03/13/2018 This project is updated to show matching funds as coming from the State of
Nebraska instead of the City of Omaha for phases in FY2018. The amount of
funding has not changed.



https://mapacog.knack.com/tip#amendandmods/amendmod-details/5aa835f0a85c8218dac3e886/


1  

Contract for Services Between 

Council Bluffs Housing Trust Fund (CBHTF) 

And 

The Omaha-Council Bluffs Metropolitan Planning Agency (MAPA) 
 
 
 

 

Background and Purpose 

SECTION 1 

The Council Bluffs Housing Trust Fund (CBHTF) is a stand-alone 50I (c) 3 nonprofit Iowa 

corporation that has been certified by the Iowa Finance Authority (IFA) as a local housing trust 

fund eligible to receive funds from the State Housing Trust Fund (SHTF) for the sole purpose of 

providing needed housing services to the citizens of Council Bluffs. 

 
The Omaha-Council Bluffs Metropolitan Planning Agency (MAPA) is a regional planning agency 

that provides planning and technical assistance to city and county governments and associated 

nonprofit organizations. 

 
The purpose of this agreement is to secure the contractual services of MAPA to provide 

professional staffing services for CBHTF. Services will be provided as outlined. 
 
 

 
Scope of Work 

SECTION 2 

MAPA shall provide professional staffing services for CBHTF. The professional staffing services 

shall, in general, include: 

• Assist in writing the annual grant to be submitted to the Iowa Finance Authority (IFA), and 

other grants as may be required to fully comply with IFA requirements; 

• Provide accounting and billing service and reports for costs directly related to SHTF grant 

monies received annually from IFA; 

• Provide project and contract management, including contract compliance monitoring for 

pass through projects that are funded with dollars received from the SHTF through IFA; 

• Ensure ongoing and timely communication to and among CBHTF Board members including 

attendance at Board meetings, as required, but in no event less than quarterly· 

• Enhance commitment and follow-up to issues and activities identified by the Board; 

• Prepare summaries, statements, and/or documents on policies and initiatives identified by 

the Board; 

• Assist in the creation of and maintenance of program management systems and/or 

organizational operations; and 

• Such other administrative and support services as the parties may agree. 

If either party deems it necessary a more detailed and specific list of services may be negotiated. 

Housing assistance, activities, and projects may be completed by contracting with outside agencies 

who are awarded grant dollars through a competitive RFP process. CBHTF shall be responsible for 
the scoring and actual award of grant dollars to agencies and organizations requesting the funds to 

complete the housing assistance activities.  Housing assistance, activities, and projects may also be 
completed by direct assistance to qualified homeowners within the City of Council Bluffs. MAPA 

may assist with activities associated with direct assistance to homeowners. 



2  

 
 

Service Cost and Method of Payment 

SECTION 3 

MAPA will provide those professional staffing services outlined in Section 2 at a flat rate 

equivalent to 10% of the SHTF allocation from IFA.  CBHTF shall be billed on a quarterly pro-rata 

basis based on the amount of the total CBHTF grant amounts for the IFA grant year actually 

disbursed by MAPA during the quarter.  Payment will be made after review and approval of the 

quarterly bill by the CBHTF President or its designee.  MAPA will provide appropriate workspace, 

office equipment and supplies, copier, fax, internet and telephone services as part of its base fee. 

Board meetings shall be held at a Council Bluffs location designated by CBHTF. 

 
CBHTF, or the sub-contracting agencies providing the actual housing assistance, shall be 

responsible for any applicable appraisal fees, survey fees, recording fees, license and permit fees, 

inspection fees, legal fees, collection fees, insurance premiums, taxes, charges, and assessments in 

connection with the administration of the projects and activities funded with grant dollars provided 

by IFA. 
 
 
 

Additional Provisions 

SECTION 4 

Term.  This Agreement shall run until March 1, 2020 unless earlier terminated by the parties.  It 

may be extended by agreement of the parties for two (2) additional terms of two years each.  This 

Agreement may be terminated by either party upon thirty (30) days written notice.  If during the 

term of this service agreement, CBHTF no longer receives funds from the Iowa Finance Authority, 

CBHTF may terminate this agreement.  Notice of termination will be given in writing to MAPA and 

may be effective immediately. 

 
Amendment.  Any amendments to this Service Agreement, made by mutual agreement of the 

parties shall be in writing.  The provisions of the amendment shall be in effect as of the date of the 

amendment unless otherwise specified within the amendment. 

 
Assignment.  MAPA may not, without the written consent of CBHTF, assign, subcontract, or 

delegate its obligations under this Service Agreement. 

 
Severability.  Invalidity or unenforceability of one or more provisions of this Service Agreement 

shall not affect any other provision of this Service Agreement.  If possible, any unenforceable 

provision within this Service Agreement will be modified to reflect the parties' original intention. 

 
Retention of Records. To the greatest extent practicable, all records and documents created in the 

execution of this Service Agreement will be retained at MAPA offices and shall be readily available 

to CBHTF through electronic or other means. In all cases, all records in the possession of MAPA 

pertaining to this Service Agreement shall be retained by MAPA for a period of five (5) years 

beginning with the date upon which the final payment under this Service Agreement is issued.  All 

records shall be retained beyond the five (5) year period if audit findings have not been resolved 

within that period.  For the purposes of this paragraph, the term "records" means legal documents, 

contracts, financial records, or any other document upon which the financial statements are based, 

in whole or in part.  Copies of all records shall be delivered to CBHTF at the end of Agreement. 



3  

Liability.  CBHTF shall indemnify, defend, and save harmless MAPA from any and all liability on 

account of any injuries or damages claimed by any person or property resulting from the negligent 

acts or omissions of CBHTF or any person working under CBHTF and/or its grant recipients 

responsible for carrying out the terms of this Service Agreement.  Likewise, MAPA shall indemnify, 

defend, and save CBHTF harmless from any and all liability on account of any injuries or damages 

claimed by any person or property resulting from the negligent acts or omissions of MAPA in 

performing its duties under this Agreement. 
 

Governing Law.  This agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of Iowa.   

 

Effective Dates.  This agreement shall be effective upon the signature of both parties. 
 
 
 
 
SIGNED:  ________________________________ Date: _____________________ 
   Brenda Carrico, President 
   CBHTF 
 
 
SIGNED: ________________________________ Date: _____________________ 
   Greg Youell, Executive Director 
   Metropolitan Area Planning Agency 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



















































































 

 
 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Omaha-Council Bluffs 

Metropolitan Area Planning Agency 

 

 

FY 2019 Consolidated Work Program 

  

 

 

Draft March 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



FY - 2019 WORK PROGRAM ACTIVITIES 
 
The following pages detail the work activities that MAPA and contract subrecipients will undertake in FY 2019                 
(July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019). These activities are divided into Community Development Assistance (710)                
and Economic Development Assistance (720). 
 

Community Development Assistance (710) 
 
Objective - To provide technical assistance to jurisdictions in identifying community development needs and the               
resources to meet those needs. 
 
Previous Work  

● Jurisdictional visits to determine local needs and aspirations 
● Preparation of local plans and land use policies and ordinances  
● Provide management assistance to local governments and other organizations 
● Preparation of applications for financial assistance 
● Management of financial assistance awarded 

 
Work Activities 
 
21. Jurisdictional Visits - Meet officials and other community representatives of each community within MAPA           

region. Document the needs and objectives of communities. Provide technical assistance on methods to              
address needs and implementing activities consistent with local objectives. Coordinate local activities with             
other regionally significant projects.  

 
22. Local Planning Assistance - Provide local jurisdictions assistance with strategic, comprehensive, disaster            

mitigation, housing and community development, and downtown revitalization plans, and local land use             
ordinances and policy.  

 
23. Local Management Assistance - Provide local jurisdictions with community management assistance (code            

enforcement, urban renewal and revitalization, demolition, etc.)  
 
24. Grant Writing Assistance - Prepare financial assistance applications for local jurisdictions and other members              

to address established needs and to implement local plans and strategies. Focus will be placed on place                 
making through downtown redevelopment, public infrastructure, housing rehabilitation and development,          
quality of life and recreational improvements, and hazard mitigation.  

 
25. Grant Management - Contract for the administration of financial assistance awards to ensure compliance              

with state and federal requirements. This includes completion of environmental reviews, monitoring,            
procurement and labor standards compliance, financial and project managements, and reporting.  

 
Ongoing Projects 
Mills County Emergency Management Plan 
Mills County Watershed Project Administration 
Malvern 5-2-1-0 Program Administration 
Pottawattamie County CITIES 2017 and 2018 Program Administration 
 
Anticipated Projects  
Hancock Sanitary Sewer CDBG Administration 
Caron/Macedonia CDBG DTR Administration 
JLUS - Phase III  
CDBG water/sewer project - TBD 
Community strategic plan - TBD 
Community comp plan - TBD 



 
Economic Development Assistance (720) 
 
Objective - To provide technical assistance to jurisdictions to identify economic development needs and the               
resources to meet those needs.  
 
Previous Work  

● Prepare and maintain CEDS 
● Planning for distressed areas 
● Assisting local jurisdictions with economic development activities 
● Revolving loan fund administration 
● Affordable housing  

 
Work Activities 
 
21. Economic Development Assistance - Prepare and maintain Certified Economic Development Strategy for the             

MAPA region including reporting and compliance management. Assist in the economic development            
planning with emphasis on economically distressed and low and moderate income areas. Assisting local              
jurisdictions with economic development studies and strategies, economic development financing and           
projects, manage revolving loan funds. 

 
22. Housing Activities - Provide local jurisdictions assistance with housing needs assessments and studies.             

Securing financial assistance for housing rehabilitation, acquisition rehabilitation, and new housing           
construction with emphasis placed on affordable and workforce housing.  

 
Ongoing Projects 
CEDS Update 
Revolving loan fund administration 
Valley and Waterloo housing rehabilitation 
Council Bluffs Housing Trust Fund Administration 
 
Anticipated Projects 
Blair workforce housing program  
Blair/Herman housing rehabilitation 
NDED housing capacity grant 
North Omaha EDA planning grant  
Assist UNO obtain university center EDA grant  
 
 
  



MAPA FY - 2019 Program Budget Table

Work Activity

MAPA Activities
Direct Personnel
Direct Non-personnel
Indirect
Contracts - Passthrough
Total

200 UPWP and Federal Assurances
210 Board and Committee Support
220 Regional Transportation Planning
230 TIP and Local Projects
240 Communication and Public Involvement
250 Regional Data, Mapping & Forecasting
260 Environment and Energy
270 Heartland 2050 - Transpiration Eligible
280 Training and Education
290 Management

Subtotal MAPA Activities - Federal Share
Subtotal MAPA Activities - State Share
Subtotal MAPA Activities - Local Share

Subtotal MAPA Activities
Contracts and Subrecipients

22001 LRTP Support
22001 Survey
23006 Bellevue Bridge Study
23000 Eppley Corridor Connector Study
25003 On-Call Modeling
26001 Little Steps Big Impact Education Campaign
26001 Little Steps Big Active Commuting Outreach
27001 Heartland 2050 Mini Grants - FY19
27001 Heartland 2050 Mini Grants - Carryover
27006 Heartland 2050 Railvolution Site Visit
27003 Transit ROI Assessment
31001 5310 Subrecipients
31001 Planning Local Subrecipients

Aerial Photography 
72022 Owner Occupied Housing Rehab

Subtotal Contracts & Subrecipients - Federal Share
Subtotal Contracts & Subrecipients - State Share
Subtotal Contracts & Subrecipients- Local Share

Subtotal Contracts & Subrecipients

Total Federal Share
Total State Share
Total Local Share

Total Activities

Match Funding
Local/Subrecipient Cash
State Funding
Contracts
Heartland 2050 Foundation Cash
Aerial Photography Match
In-kind Match

Total Match
Match %

EDA Contracts Local Dues Local Dues
MAPA Total 

Budget

331,660                  172,850                1,416,830          
62,380                    95,950                  288,250             

125,810                  65,528                  535,610             
477,500                  -                        3,400,285          
997,350                  334,328                5,640,975          

-                 -                 -                 -                          -                        12,600               
360                -                 -                 360                         -                        183,800             
-                 -                 -                 -                          -                        161,950             
-                 -                 -                 -                          -                        129,190             
-                 240                -                 240                         -                        174,300             
-                 -                 -                 -                          -                        276,352             
-                 80                  -                 80                           -                        79,720               

-                          -                        204,970             
14,220           -                 -                 14,220                    -                        90,690               

90                  8,910              -                 9,000                      -                        82,580               
70,000           35,000             -                       -                 -                 -                 105,000                  -                   -                      -                -                        1,405,107          

-                 -                   25,000                 81,000            -                 -                 106,000                  -                   -                      -                -                        106,000             
20,000           -                   -                       -                 85,250            203,600          308,850                  52,500              10,000                271,828         334,328                729,583             
90,000           35,000             25,000                 81,000            85,250            203,600          519,850                  52,500              10,000                271,828         334,328                2,240,690          

-                          125,000             
-                          15,000               
-                          112,500             

187,500         187,500                  375,000             
-                          35,000               
-                          200,000             
-                          155,000             
-                          225,000             
-                          250,000             
-                          87,500               
-                          100,000             
-                          720,000             
-                          414,285             
-                          296,000             

290,000               290,000                  290,000             

187,500         -                   290,000               -                 -                 -                 

150,000         150,000                  2,084,500          
290,000               290,000                  345,000             

37,500           37,500                    970,785             
187,500         -                   290,000               -                 -                 -                 477,500                  3,400,285          

220,000         35,000             255,000                  -                   -                        3,489,607          
315,000               81,000            396,000                  -                   -                        451,000             

57,500           85,250            203,600          346,350                  52,500              10,000                271,828         334,328                1,700,368          
277,500         35,000             315,000               81,000            85,250            203,600          997,350                  52,500              10,000                271,828         334,328                5,640,975          

57,500           203,600          261,100                  271,828         271,828                687,333             
315,000               81,000            396,000                  -                        451,000             

85,250            85,250                    10,000                10,000                  95,250               
-                          52,500              52,500                  122,500             
-                          -                        296,000             
-                          -                        499,285             

57,500           -                   315,000               81,000            85,250            203,600          742,350                  52,500              10,000                271,828         334,328                2,151,368          
21% 0% 100% 100% 100% 100% 74% 100% 38%

Federal Disaster 
Programs

NE Affordable 
Housing Trust 

Fund
State Comm 

Dev
Total Comm & Econ 

Development

Total Heartland 
2050 - Non Federal 

Transportation
Foundations & 

Grants

Event 
Registrations & 
Sponsorships



 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2018-2021 Title VI and ADA Plan and Procedure 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Title VI Guidelines and Complaint Procedure   

Americans With Disability Act  

Limited English Proficiency Guidelines 

Environmental Justice Guidelines and Area Analysis  

 

 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 1 

Table of Contents  

Contents 

CHAPTER 1 – INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................ 3 

Agency Overview .......................................................................................................... 3 

What is an MPO? ......................................................................................................... 3 

Title VI and ADA, how they affect you ..................................................................... 4 

Updates & Amendments to MAPA’s Title VI ............................................................... 4 

Outline of MAPA’s Title VI Plan ..................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 Chapter 1............................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 Chapter 2............................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 Chapter 3............................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 Chapter 4............................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 Chapter 5............................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

CHAPTER 2 - TRANSPORTATION PLANNING PROCESS ................................................. 5 

Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 5 

MAPA’s Committee Structure .................................................................................... 6 

MAPA’s Planning Process ........................................................................................... 7 

Demographic Profile ...................................................................................................... 8 

Population 65 Years of Age and Older ..................................................................... 9 

Population Living in Poverty ..................................................................................... 10 

Zero Vehicle Households .......................................................................................... 11 

Environmental Justice Analysis ................................................................................... 12 

Evaluation of Programmed Projects ....................................................................... 12 

Project Selection Criteria .......................................................................................... 13 

CHAPTER 3 – TITLE VI GENERAL REQUIREMENTS ......................................................... 14 

Overview ....................................................................................................................... 14 

Responsibilities of the Title VI Coordinator ................................................................ 14 

Title VI Complaint Procedure ...................................................................................... 16 

Title VI Notification for Sub-Recipients ....................................................................... 19 

Sub-Recipient Monitoring and Pass through Procedures ....................................... 20 

Program Report ............................................................................................................ 21 

Public Participation Outreach for Historically Disadvantaged Populations ........ 21 

CHAPTER 4 – AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT GENERAL REQUIREMENTS ........... 23 

Overview & Notice ....................................................................................................... 23 

Authorities ...................................................................................................................... 24 

Disabled Population Demographics ......................................................................... 26 

Grievance Procedure.................................................................................................. 27 

ADA Coordinator Responsibilities............................................................................... 28 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 2 

Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Self-Assessment .......................................... 29 

CHAPTER 5 – LIMITED ENGLISH PROFICIENCY ............................................................ 31 

Overview ....................................................................................................................... 31 

Four – Factor Analysis ................................................................................................... 34 

Factor 1 – Number and Proportion of LEP Persons in the MAPA Region ............ 34 

Factor 2 – Frequency of Contact with MAPA’s Programs and Services ............ 37 

Factor 3 – Nature and Importance of MAPA’s Activities or Programs ............... 38 

Factor 4 – Availability of Resources and Accommodation Costs ...................... 38 

APPENDICES ................................................................................................................ 40 

Appendix A: Title VI Complaint Form ........................................................................ 41 

Appendix B: Summary of Comments ........................................................................ 45 

 

  



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 3 

Chapter 1 – Introduction  
Agency Overview  
The Metropolitan Area Planning Agency 

(MAPA) is the designated metropolitan 

planning organization (MPO) for transportation 

planning in the Omaha-Council Bluffs area. 

MAPA receives federal funding from the 

Federal Highway Administration (FHWA), the 

Federal Transit Administration (FTA), the 

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), the 

US Department of Housing and Urban 

Development (HUD) and other state and 

federal agencies related to metropolitan 

planning. 

MAPA’s transportation planning process 

implements the three C’s of transportation 

planning – Continuing, Cooperative, and 

Comprehensive planning – to involve residents 

in the planning process in an ongoing and 

inclusive manner. Federal regulations that 

apply to the MAPA planning processes and 

are incorporated into all MAPA planning 

activities are listed in the sidebar. Specific 

accommodation policies stating how 

regulations are implemented are discussed in 

the throughout the plan and MAPA’s Title VI 

Policy Statement is also detailed in the sidebar 

to the right.  

Additionally, MAPA has outlined the complaint 

process for both Title VI and ADA in this 

document. If a person feels he/she has been 

discriminated against by MAPA or as a part of 

a MAPA program, the guidance in Chapter 3 

provides specific recourse to those individuals.  

What is an MPO? 
Metropolitan Planning Organizations (MPOs) 

are organizations designated by the federal 

government to be responsible for 

transportation planning and project selection 

in a particular region. MPOs provide a forum 

for cooperative decision making for the 

metropolitan planning area. The governor 

MAPA’s Civil Rights Policy  

MAPA assures that no person shall 

on the grounds of race, color, 

national origin, age, 

disability/handicap or sex, as 

provided by Title VI of the Civil 

Rights Act of 1964, and the Civil 

Rights Restoration Act of 1987 

(P.L. 100.259) be excluded from 

participation in, be denied the 

benefits of, or be otherwise 

subjected to discrimination under 

any program or activity receiving 

Federal financial assistance. 

MAPA further assures every effort 

will be made to ensure 

nondiscrimination in all of its 

programs and activities, whether 

those programs and activities are 

federally funded or not. 

In the event that MAPA distributes 

Federal aid funds to another 

entity, MAPA will include Title VI 

language in all written 

agreements and will monitor for 

compliance. 

MAPA’s Title VI Coordinator is 

responsible for initiating and 

monitoring Title VI activities, 

preparing reports and other 

responsibilities as required by 23 

Code of Federal Regulation(CFR) 

200 and 49 Code of Federal 

Regulation 21. 

 Executive Director 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 4 

designates an MPO in every urbanized area with a 

population of more than 50,000. MAPA has been 

designated as the MPO for the Omaha-Council 

Bluffs region by the governors of both Nebraska 

and Iowa. 

Title VI and ADA, how they affect you 
All agencies that receive federal funds, including 

MAPA, must adhere to the standards set by these 

legislations. A list of the applicable acts and orders 

are as follows: 

 Title VI 

 Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) 

 The Rehabilitation Act 

 The Federal-Aid Highway Act 

 The Age Discrimination Act 

 The Civil Rights Restoration Act  

 Executive Order 12250 

 Executive Order 12898 

 Executive Order 13166 

Updates & Amendments to MAPA’s Title VI   
Title VI plans are updated every 3 years by MPOs to stay current with all relevant Federal, 

State, and local legislation.  

All of MAPA’s documents follow a specific procedure for stakeholder and public participation; 

the requirements for MAPA’s Title VI plan are outlined in Figure 1.1 below.  

The document approval process includes at least one resource agency meeting where 

relevant agencies and organizations in the community can meet with staff and review the 

new Title VI plan and make suggestions before it goes a public comment. After the resource 

meeting agency meeting is held, MAPA’s two transportation sub-committees– the 

Transportation Technical Advisory Committee (TTAC) makes recommendations. 

MAPA staff incorporate any recommendations made by resource agencies or MAPA sub-

committees before the MAPA Board releases the document to the public for comment. The 

Title VI Plan  

Updated every 3 years  

30 Day public Comment Period  

At least one resource agency meeting  

prior to adoption  

 
Posted to MAPA website  

TITLE VI  

“No person in the United States shall, on the 

ground of race, color, or national origin, be 

excluded from participation in, be denied the 

benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination 

under any program or activity receiving 

Federal financial assistance.” 

ADA  

Under the ADA all reasonable 

accommodations must be made for persons 

with disabilities to participate in all public 

activities and the planning process.  

 

Figure 1.1 – Overview of Public Participation Plan Requirements for Title VI Planning 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 5 

new plan is posted online and at the MAPA office for public review and comment for 30 days, 

these comments will then be included in the appendices of the plan and staff will work to 

implement suggestions. After the public comment period the plan will again go to the 

Technical Transportation Committee (TTAC), and the MAPA Board for final approval and 

adoption.  

A summary of the comments received about the development of this plan are included in 

Appendix B. 

Chapter 2 - Transportation Planning Process  

Introduction 
MAPA undertakes many regional planning initiatives related to land use, economic 

development, transportation, and other public facilities such as recreation, sanitary sewer, 

and water supply each year. Planning for complex needs like transportation systems, 

beneficial recreations, and high-quality natural environment simply cannot be done well 

without working together. This emphasis on regionalism is critical to the success of MAPA, its 

member entities, and to ensuring that all residents have the opportunity to fully participate in 

the planning process. 

As a Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO), MAPA works with federal, state, and local 

agencies and citizens to coordinate transportation planning at the regional level for the 

Omaha Metropolitan Area. MAPA receives federal funds to develop regional transportation 

plans and programs and to coordinate technical and policy studies on transportation and 

other programs. 

The MAPA Transportation Management Area (TMA), which is the same as the MPO boundary, 

is comprised of Douglas, Sarpy, and eastern Pottawattamie County. The TMA is the region in 

which MAPA is responsible for short- and long-range transportation planning and for allocating 

Federal Funding to 

transportation projects. 

The boundaries MAPA 

TMA is illustrated in 

Figure 2.1.   

Figure 2.1 – MAPA Region  



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 6 

The sidebar includes a summary of 

important planning products and 

stakeholder groups through which MAPA 

develops plans and studies. A more 

detailed discussion of MAPA’s committee 

structure is included in the next section of 

this chapter. 

MAPA’s Committee Structure  
MAPA’s Transportation Planning Process is 

guided by a committee structure of local 

elected officials, local governmental 

staff, non-profits, advocacy groups, and 

community members. An organizational 

chart of MAPA’s MPO committee 

structure is included in Figure 2.2 to the 

right. The MAPA Board of Directors serves 

as the Policy Board for the MAPA MPO, 

and constitutes final approval of all plans, 

policies, and regular business of the 

agency. Decisions by the MAPA Board 

are informed by recommendations from 

the Transportation Technical Advisory 

Committee (TTAC). 

The TTAC is comprised of 

transportation engineers and 

planners from member 

communities, state DOT 

representatives, and local transit 

officials. This group provides key 

input into the development of 

MAPA’s plans, project selection, 

and the development of 

transportation-related policies for 

the Omaha-Council Bluffs region. 

MAPA has three standing project 

selection committees to make 

recommendations to TTAC about 

the region’s federal funding. The 

project selection sub-committees 

include the Project Selection 

Committee (composed of TTAC 

members), the Coordinated Transit 

Committee (includes human 

Important Transportation 

Planning Documents  

Long Range Transportation Plan  

Transportation Improvement Program 

Unified Planning Work Program  

Traffic Reports  

Public Participation Plan  

Title VI Plan  

Stakeholder Groups  

Transportation Technical Advisory 

Committee (TTAC)  

Project Selection Committee 

(ProSeCom) 

Coordinated Transit Committee (CTC)  

Figure 2.2 – MAPA Committee Structure 

MAPA 

Board of Directors

Transporation 
Technical Advisory 

Commitee 

Project Selection 
Committee 
(ProSeCom)

Transportation 
Alternatives 

Program 
Committee 

(TAP-C)

Coordinated Transit 
Committee (CTC)



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 7 

service and para-transit agencies, and the Transportation Alternatives Program Committee 

(involves engineers, bike/pedestrian advocates, and planners) make recommendations to the 

TTAC. 

MAPA’s Planning Process  
MAPA strives to ensure that all its activities reflect the ideal Comprehensive, Cooperative, and 

Continuing planning process.  These “Three C’s” provide a framework for understanding the 

importance of early and continuous engagement of the public throughout the planning 

process. Each of these characteristics is defined in the list below: 

 Comprehensive – Consideration of all possible factors and relevant information. 

 Cooperative – Involving input from as many aspects of the communities effected as 

possible. 

 Continuing – To sustain an ongoing development and review decisions to ensure 

continued relevance. 

The MAPA Public Participation Plan identifies specific strategies and processes for each major 

planning document that MAPA develops. However, the general process for plan 

development is quite similar and is described in Figure 2.3 below. This approach emphasizes 

the need for early and continuous engagement from stakeholders and the public. Providing 

ample time for feedback in the planning process ensures open and full participation is possible 

for all residents of the MAPA region.  

  

Final Plan 
Approval

Public 
Comment 

Period

Plan 
Development 

& Revision

Goal 
Development

Stakeholder 
Involvement

Information 
Gathering & 
Public Input

Figure 2.3 – Overview of the MAPA Planning Process 

 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 8 

Demographic Profile 
There are many different segments of the population that are important to consider as a part 

of the transportation planning process. A summary of each of the groups listed below are 

detailed in the demographic profile that follows: 

 Elderly Population (Population 65 and Older) 

 Disabled Population 

 Population Living in Poverty 

 Zero-Vehicle Households (no access to a vehicle) 

  



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 9 

Population 65 Years of Age and Older 
Table 2.1 provides a summary of the population 

65 years of age and older in the Omaha-

Council Bluffs Metro area. Of the 97,000 

people over the age of 65 in the MAPA 

region, many are concentrated outside of 

the urban core. This distribution poses a unique challenge to the transportation network for the 

area since many of the elderly are no longer able to drive or have restriction on their driving, 

such as being unable or unwilling to drive at night. Figure 2.4 (below) shows the geographic 

distribution of the population over 65 years of age. 

Metro Transit provides both fixed route transit service and demand response service to the 

smaller outlying communities which have large pockets of those over 65 have limited or no 

transit service available. MAPA’s Coordinated Transit Committee works with local stakeholders 

and non-profit transit providers to expand the mobility of elderly and disabled populations with 

limited mobility.  

  

Total TMA Population Over 65 Percent 

924,495 97,000 11.25% 

Table 2.1 – TMA Population Over 65 Years of Age 

 

Figure 2.4 – TMA Population Over 65 Years of Age 

 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 10 

Population Living in Poverty  
Table 2.3 to the right shows the 

population living in poverty in the MAPA 

region. There are approximately 100,000 

people living at or below the poverty 

line. The highest concentrations of these low-income individuals are found within Northeastern 

Omaha. The geographic distribution of residents in poverty within the MAPA region is illustrated 

in Figure 2.6 below. 

For populations in poverty in Omaha, access to job centers is a critical need. The area of 

Northeast Omaha that has the highest concentration of poverty is very well served by transit 

at present. Additionally, smaller pockets of concentrated poverty in South Omaha are also 

well-served by the existing transit service provided by Metro. 

 

  

Total Population Population in Poverty Percent 

924,495 93,520 10.3% 

Table 2.3 – TMA Population in Poverty 

 

Figure 2.6 – TMA Population in Poverty 

 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 11 

Zero Vehicle Households  
Table 2.4 shows the number of 

households in the Omaha 

area that do not own a 

vehicle, approximately 

22,200. Much like the 

poverty statistics previously discussed, the highest concentrations of Zero Vehicle Households 

are found in eastern Omaha within the city’s urban core. The absence of an automobile in a 

household can create serious limitations on the mobility of residents. Fortunately, within the 

MAPA region, high concentrations of those without access to are within areas of the metro 

that are well-served by transit– providing access to the transportation network. Figure 2.7 

illustrates the distribution of zero-vehicle households throughout the MAPA region. 

 

  

Total Households Zero vehicle households Percent 

352,723   

Table 2.4 – MAPA TMA Zero Vehicle Households 

 

Figure 2.7 – MAPA TMA Zero Vehicle Households 

 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 12 

Environmental Justice Analysis  

Evaluation of Programmed Projects 
Currently MAPA performs Environmental Justice (EJ) analysis on all projects in its Transportation 

Improvement Program and Long Range Transportation Plan. This analysis looks at several 

factors including how much money has been spent in EJ areas, the potential negative 

impacts of projects located in and around EJ areas, as well as the potential benefits to these 

communities from projects in and around them.  

To identify environmental justice areas MAPA uses census data to determine where there are 

disproportionally large populations of minority, low-income, and zero vehicle households. 

These areas are deemed environmentally sensitive and form the basis for additional analyses 

of burdens and benefits. 

In past years, MAPA has attempted to identify the amount of funding that was programmed in 

the TIP which makes a direct impact to EJ areas. This analysis was conducted by mapping the 

location of TIP projects and then measuring their proximity to EJ areas. For projects that fall 

completely within an EJ area, all of the funding would be noted as benefiting EJ populations. 

Projects that partially fall within an EJ are counted based on the proportion of the project that 

directly impacts the EJ area.  This process has worked well in measuring and ensuring that 

funding is distributed equitably throughout the region. 

At present, MAPA is working to develop measures of mobility and accessibility for EJ 

populations as well. Ultimately, these measures will be used to analyze and measure the 

distribution of travel time and regional mobility for EJ and non-EJ populations. Because EJ 

populations benefit greatly from the existing transit network, measurements of transit mobility 

may provide a clearer picture of the TIP program’s impact on EJ populations. A summary of 

these proposed measures is included in Table 2.5 below. 

 

Measures Method Data Source 

Mobility of EJ and 
Non-EJ Populations 

Geographic analysis of travel time and transit travel time MAPA Travel Demand Model; 
Metro Comprehensive Operations 
Analysis 

Accessibility of EJ and 
Non-EJ Populations 

Identification of census tracts with statistically-
significantly higher proportions of non-vehicle 
households; expand designated EJ areas to include 
entire transit-shed and Census tracts with high 
proportions of non-vehicle households 

2010 United States Census, 
Transportation Improvement 
Programs, Metro Transit 
Operational data 

 

 

  

Table 2.5 – Proposed Measures of Transportation Equity 

 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 13 

Project Selection Criteria  
In addition to analyzing the Environmental Justice impacts of projects within the TIP, the 

impacts of projects on EJ populations are also considered at the time of selection. MAPA has 

developed project selection criteria for each of the three federal funding programs which it 

administers. These programs are listed below: 

 Surface Transportation Program (STP) 

 Transportation Alternatives Program (TAP) 

 Section 5310 Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities (5310) 

Each of these programs takes the project’s impacts on Environmental Justice into account, 

and provides additional points for projects demonstrating a benefit to EJ populations. As such, 

projects with clear benefits to EJ populations would score higher than similar projects without 

such benefits. 

The Demographic Profile in this Chapter illustrates that Environmental Justice populations are 

generally those who face other mobility issues as well– including lack of access to a vehicle. In 

this way, MAPA’s project selection criteria help demonstrate the agency’s commitment to 

understanding the needs of the EJ population and ensuring that those needs are considered 

when funding is allocated to projects. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 14 

Chapter 3 – Title VI General Requirements  

Overview  
The MAPA Executive Director is responsible for the overall implementation of the 

agency’s Title VI program.  The Title VI Coordinator is responsible for initiating and 

monitoring Title VI and ADA activities, collecting information and documentation from 

staff regarding Title VI compliance, preparing reports and other responsibilities as 

required. 

MAPA has designated the two members of the MAPA staff– one in the Community & 

Economic Development Department and one in the Transportation Department– to 

fulfill the duties of the Title VI Coordinator. As a part of these responsibilities, both staff 

members will work closely with the Executive Director and Program Director to ensure 

all are aware of the Title VI requirements and that the requirements are incorporated 

into the planning efforts, as described more fully in this plan.   

Both Title VI Coordinators will coordinate closely with the Executive Director and 

Administrative Services Director in the response to complaints, development of reports 

and any subsequent updates to MAPA’s Title VI Plans and Policies.  

Responsibilities of the Title VI Coordinator  
The responsibilities of the Title VI Coordinators constitute the overarching framework of 

MAPA’s Title VI Program. These responsibilities apply both to the day-to-day 

management of administrative affairs related to Title VI and the implementation of 

programs specific to outreach and training programs. These responsibilities are 

illustrated in Figure 3.1(next page) as well. 

A. Program Administration. Administer the Title VI program and coordinate 

implementation of the plan between MAPA departments. Ensure compliance with the 

assurances, policy, and program objectives. This includes performing Title VI program 

reviews to assess administrative procedures, staffing, and resources and provide 

recommendations as required to the Executive Director. 

B. Complaints. Review written Title VI complaints that may be received by MAPA 

following the adopted procedural guidelines. Ensure every effort is made to resolve 

complaints informally at the local or regional level. 

C. Data Collection. Review the statistical data gathering process performed by 

Transportation Department staff periodically to ensure sufficiency of data for meeting 

the requirements of Title VI program administration. 

D. Environmental Review Requirements. Ensure that available census data are 

included as a part of all NEPA Documentation for projects receiving Federal Highway 

Administration or other Federal assistance. 

E. Training Programs. Conduct or facilitate training programs on Title VI issues and 

regulations for MAPA employees and facilitate Title VI training for appropriate staff, 

contractors and sub-recipients. A summary of training conducted will be reported in the 

annual update. 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 15 

F. Title VI Plan Update. Review and update the MAPA Title VI Plan as needed or 

required. Present updated plan to the Executive Director for approval and to submit the 

amended Plan to NDOR. 

G. Annual Accomplishment Report. Prepare an annual report of Title VI 

accomplishments and changes to the program in the preceding Federal fiscal year 

and identify goals and objectives for the upcoming year as required by July 31 of each 

year. 

H. Public Dissemination. Work with MAPA departmental staff to develop and disseminate 

Title VI program information to MAPA employees and sub-recipients, including 

contractors, subcontractors, consultants, and sub-consultants and beneficiaries, as well 

as the general public. Public dissemination may include postings of official statements, 

inclusion of Title VI language in contracts or other agreements, website postings, and 

annual publication of MAPA’s Title VI Policy Statement in newspaper(s) having a 

general circulation, and informational brochures. Ensure public service announcements 

or notices are posted of proposed projects, hearings, meetings, or formation of public 

advisory boards, in newspapers or other media reaching the affected community. 

Ensure the full utilization of available minority publications or media and, where 

appropriate, provide written or verbal information in languages other than English. 

I. Elimination of Discrimination. Recommend procedures to identify and eliminate 

discrimination that may be discovered in any MAPA processes. 

J. Maintain Legislative and Procedural Information. Federal laws, rules and 

regulations, NDOR and IDOT guidelines, the current MAPA Title VI Plan, Annual 

Accomplishment Reports, and other resource information pertaining to the 

implementation and administration of the MAPA’s Title VI program will be maintained 

and updated by the Coordinators. Information will be made available to other Local 

Public Agencies or the public as requested or required.  

 
 

  

  

Figure 3.1 –   Overview of Title VI Coordinator Responsibilities 

Program 
Administration

Complaints

Data Collection

Environmental 
Review 

Requirements

Training Programs

Title VI Plan 
Update

Annual 
Accomplishment 

Report



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 16 

Title VI Complaint Procedure  
MAPA has instituted a complaint procedure for any person who believes that he or 

she, on the basis of race, color, national origin, gender, or disability has been excluded 

from or denied the benefits of, or subjected to discrimination by MAPA or its sub 

recipients, consultants, and/or contractors.  This complaint procedure applies to 

matters related to Title VI, ADA, or LEP. 

These procedures do not deny the right of the complainant to file formal complaints 

with other state or federal agencies, or to seek private counsel for complaints alleging 

discrimination.  These procedures are part of an administrative process that does not 

provide for remedies that include punitive damages or compensatory remuneration 

for the complainant.  MAPA is committed to finding a satisfactory resolution for all 

complaints that it receives.  The option of informal internal mediation meeting(s) 

between the affected parties and the Title VI coordinator may be used for resolution, 

at any stage of the process.  

The Title VI Coordinators will make every effort to pursue a timely resolution to the 

complaint.  Initial interviews with the complainant and the respondent, if applicable, 

will request information regarding specifically requested relief and settlement 

opportunities.  A brief description of MAPA’s Title VI complaint procedure is illustrated in 

Figure 3.2 and copy of MAPA’s Title VI complaint form is provided as Appendix A.   

MAPA’s Title VI Complaint Steps, Contact Information for Partners, and Milestones: 

1. Any person who believes that he or she, individually, as a member of any specific class, 

or in connection with any disadvantaged business enterprise, has been subjected to 

discrimination prohibited by Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the American with 

Disabilities Act of 1990, Section 504 of the Vocational Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and the 

Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987, as amended, may file a complaint with MAPA. A 

complaint may also be filed by a representative on behalf of such a person. All 

complaints will be referred to the MAPA’s Title VI Coordinator for review and action. 

Notification of 
Resolution to 
Complaintant 

(Within 90 Days)

FHWA 
Investigation of 

Claim

(Within 60 Days)

Documentation 
Submitted to 
State Partners

(Within 10 Days of 
Receipt)

Complaint 
Received by 

MAPA

(Within 180 Days 
of Issue)

Figure 3.2 – Overview of MAPA Title VI Complaint Procedure 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 17 

Contact Information for MAPA’s Title VI Coordinator are included below: 

Metropolitan Area Planning Agency 

Title VI Coordinator 

2222 Cumming Street 

Omaha, NE 68102 

(402) 444-6866 x216 

titlevi@mapacog.org 

 

2. In order to have the complaint consideration under this procedure, the complainant 

must file the complaint no later than 180 days after: 

a. The date of alleged act of discrimination; or 

b. Where there has been a continuing course of conduct, the date on which that 

conduct was discontinued. 

In either case, the MAPA may extend the time for filing or waive the time limit in the 

interest of justice, specifying in writing the reason for so doing. 

3. Complaints shall be in writing and shall be signed by the complainant and/or the 

complainant’s representative. Complaints shall set forth as fully as possible the facts and 

circumstances surrounding the claimed discrimination. In the event that a person makes 

a verbal complaint of discrimination to an officer or employee of MAPA, the person shall 

be interviewed by the Title VI Coordinator. If necessary, the Title VI Coordinator will assist 

the person in reducing the complaint to writing and submit the written version of the 

complaint to the person for signature. The complaint shall then be handled according to 

MAPA’s investigative procedures. 

4. Within 10 days, the Title VI Coordinator will acknowledge receipt of the allegation, inform 

the complainant of procedures to be followed, and advise the complainant of other 

avenues of redress available, such as NDOR, IDOT, and FHWA Division Offices. 

5. MAPA will advise NDOR and/or IDOT within 10 days of receipt of the allegations. 

Generally, the following information will be included in every notification to State DOT: 

a) Name, address, and phone number of the complainant. 

b) Name(s) and address(es) of alleged discriminating official(s). 

c) Basis of complaint (i.e., race, color, national origin or sex) 

d) Date of alleged discriminatory act(s). 

e) Date of complaint received by MAPA. 

f) A statement of the complaint. 

g) Other agencies (state, local or Federal) where the complaint has been 

filed. 

h) An explanation of the actions MAPA has taken or proposed to resolve 

the issue raised in the complaint. 

6. The State DOT will forward the complaint to FHWA. The FHWA Office of Civil Rights will 

determine the appropriate individual and/or organization to conduct the investigation. 

7. Within 60 days, the FHWA Office of Civil Rights (or its designee) will conduct an 

investigation of the allegation and based on the information obtained, will render a 

recommendation for action in a report of findings to the Executive Director of MAPA. The 

complaint should be resolved by informal means whenever possible. Such informal 

attempts and their results will be summarized in the report of findings. 

8. Within 90 days of receipt of the complaint, the FHWA Office of Civil Rights (or its 

designee) will notify the complainant in writing of the final decision reached, including 

mailto:titlevi@mapacog.org


MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 18 

the proposed disposition of the matter. The notification will advise the complainant of 

his/her appeal rights with NDOR, IDOT, and/or USDOT, if they are dissatisfied with the final 

decision. The Title VI Coordinator will also provide the State DOT with a copy of this 

decision and summary of findings upon completion of the investigation. 

9. Any complaints received against MAPA should immediately be forwarded to IDOT or 

NDOR for investigation. MAPA will not investigate any complaint in which it has been 

named in the complaint.   

10. Title VI comments for each state and FHWA Division Office are as follows: 

 

 Nebraska Department of Roads Iowa Department of Transportation 

 Human Resources, Title VI Program Office of Employee Services 

 1500 Highway 2, P.O. Box 94759 Civil Rights Coordinator 

 Lincoln, NE  68509-4759 800 Lincoln Way 

 (402) 479-4870 Ames, Iowa 50010 

  (515)-239-1921 

 

 Federal Highway Administration Federal Highway Administration 

 Nebraska Division Office  Iowa Division Office 

 100 Centennial Mall North 105 6th Street 

 Lincoln, NE 68508 Ames, IA 50010 

 (402) 437-5765  (515) 233-7300 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 19 

Title VI Notification for 

Sub-Recipients  
In order for the goals of Title 

VI of the Civil Rights Act to be 

fully realized, the general 

public and MAPA’s partners 

must be fully aware of 

protections afforded by the 

law. MAPA and sub 

recipients provide 

information to the public 

regarding Title VI obligations 

through the following 

actions: 

1. Posting the agency’s 

policy statement 

regarding Title VI on the 

website along with the 

compliant procedure 

and Title VI and LEP 

brochures to the MAPA 

website. 

2. MAPA utilizes Title VI 

brochures developed by 

NDOR and IDOT to 

communicate the 

specific protections and 

obligations of MAPA. 

3. MAPA inserts the 

preferred, or 

abbreviated, “Notice to 

the Public” in all 

significant publications 

that are distributed to 

the public.  The preferred 

notice is also posted in 

MAPA’s office lobby. 

Both notifications are 

included in the box to 

the right. 

Preferred Notification  

The Omaha-Council Bluffs Metropolitan Area 

Planning Agency (MAPA) hereby gives public 

notice that it is the policy of the agency to 

assure full compliance with Title VI of the Civil 

Rights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Restoration 

Act of 1987, Executive Order 12898 on 

Environmental Justice, and related statutes and 

regulations in all programs and activities.   

Title VI requires that no person in the United 

States of America shall, on the grounds of race, 

color, sex, or national origin, be excluded from 

the participation in, be denied the benefits of, 

or be otherwise subjected to discrimination 

under any program or activity for which MAPA 

receives federal financial assistance.   

Any person who believes they have been 

aggrieved by an unlawful discriminatory 

practice under Title VI has a right to file a formal 

complaint with MAPA.  Any such complaint 

must be in writing and filed with MAPA’s Title VI 

Coordinator within one hundred eighty (180) 

days following the date of the alleged 

discriminatory occurrence.  

 For more information, or to obtain a Title VI 

Discrimination Complaint Form, please see our 

web site at http://mapacog.org/equity or call 

(402) 444-6866 

Abbreviated Notification  

MAPA fully complies with Title VI of the Civil 

Rights Act of 1964 and related statutes and 

regulations in all programs and activities.  MAPA 

operates its programs without regard to race, 

color and national origin.    

For more information, or to obtain a Title VI 

Complaint Form, see 

http://mapacog.org/equity or call (402) 444-

6866 

 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 20 

Sub-Recipient Monitoring and Pass through Procedures  
MAPA allocates significant amounts of federal-aid to sub-recipients for various 

transportation planning activities. Each of these “pass-through” agreements is subject 

to the federal and state Civil Rights requirements described in this plan. 

In order to ensure that all applicable requirements are met, MAPA has developed the 

following procedure to monitor sub-recipient compliance and issue remedial actions 

to non-complaint sub-recipients: 

A. Title VI Review of Sub-recipients of Federal-Aid Highway Funds. The Coordinator 

will assist State DOTs to periodically conduct Title VI compliance reviews. MAPA staff will 

review select recipients of Federal-aid highway or other Federal funds, to ensure 

adherence to Title VI requirements. MAPA will periodically confirm that operational 

guidelines provided to consultants, contractors, and sub-recipients (including Title VI 

language, provisions, and related requirements) are effective and appropriate. 

Additionally, Title VI assurances and provisional language will be included in all 

federally-funded consultant contracts. 

B. Post-Grant Reviews. MAPA, in cooperation with state and federal partners, will 

conduct Post-Grant reviews of select projects to ensure compliance with the 

requirements noted above. 

C. Remedial Action. When irregularities occur in the administration of Federal-aid 

highway programs at MAPA or a sub-recipient, corrective action will be taken to 

resolve identified Title VI issues. MAPA will seek the cooperation of the consultant, 

contractor or sub-recipient in correcting deficiencies found during the periodic reviews 

described. MAPA will provide technical assistance and guidance, upon request, to 

support voluntarily compliance by the sub-recipient. When conducting Title VI 

compliance reviews, MAPA will document any recommended remedial action agreed 

upon by MAPA and the sub-recipient, and provide a copy of the letter to state and 

federal partners within a period not to exceed 45 days. 

 Sub-recipients found to be in non-compliance will be given a reasonable time 

up to 90 days after receipt of the remedial action letter to voluntarily correct 

deficiencies. When a sub-recipient fails or refuses to voluntarily comply with 

requirements within the allotted time frame, MAPA will submit copies of the case 

file and a recommendation that the sub-recipient be found in noncompliance 

to State DOTs and FHWA. 

 A follow-up review will be conducted within 180 days of the initial review will be 

conducted to ascertain if the sub-recipient has corrected deficiencies by earlier 

reviews. If the sub-recipient refuses to comply, MAPA and State DOTs may initiate 

sanctions as per 49 CFR 21 with FHWA’s concurrence. 

  



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 21 

Program Report 
To date, MAPA has not received any complaints through its Title VI Complaint Process. 

Any future complaints and their resolution will be noted in this section as a part of 

future updates to this Title VI plan– including any applicable legal actions taken 

against MAPA.  

Public Participation Outreach for Historically Disadvantaged Populations 
Public participation is an important part of government decisions affecting many 

aspects of our lives. MAPA believes that having people participate in its work can help 

to accomplish positive improvements within the community and give people input in 

the planning process. 

In general, MAPA’s outreach philosophy seeks to maximize opportunities for the public 

to be involved in its planning initiatives. The specific elements of the agency’s 

outreach philosophy are displayed in Figure 3.3 (next page) and described in more 

detail in the list that follows. 

 

 

Many of these elements of MAPA’s Outreach Philosophy are designed to encourage and 

increase inclusion of historically-disadvantaged populations within the MAPA region.  Specific 

strategies from MAPA’s Public Participation Plan to improve outreach efforts and increase the 

Outreach 
Philosophy

Conduct Outreach to 
all within the MPO 

boundary

Consider Traditionally 
Underserved Areas of 

the Region and 
Individuals

Encourage 
Interchange of Ideas 

Consider Public Input 
When Shaping 

Policies, Plans and 
Programs

Conduct Outreach 
to Low-Income, 
Minority, Limited 

English Proficency, 
and Disabled 
Populations

Involve Public Input 
Early in the Planning 

Process

Figure 3.3 – Overview of MAPA’s Public Participation Outreach Philosophy 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 22 

engagement of these communities are summarized below. The main goals of MAPA’s 

planning process concerning historically disadvantaged populations are: 

 Ensure full and fair participation by all communities affected potentially in the 

transportation decision-making process. 

 Avoid, minimize or mitigate disproportionately high and adverse human health or 

environmental effects, including social and economic effects, of programs, policies 

and activities on minority populations and low-income populations 

 Prevent the denial of, reduction of, or significant delay in the receipt of transportation 

benefits by minority and low-income populations. 

 MAPA targets low-income and limited-English proficient populations with specific 

outreach in community centers, schools, faith-based institutions and businesses that are 

located in census tracts that have a high concentration of minority and/or low-income 

populations.  

 As a supplement to general public announcements in newspapers and online, MAPA 

contacts persons/agencies representing low-income and minority populations via 

telephone and/or email. 

 MAPA asks these contacts to post the materials in common areas or include in 

newsletters in order to target these populations specifically. 

 

  



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 23 

Chapter 4 – Americans with 

Disabilities Act General 

Requirements 
 

Overview & Notice 
MAPA, in accordance with the 

requirements of Title II of the 

American with Disabilities Act of 

1990 (ADA) will not discriminate 

against qualified .individuals with 

disabilities on the basis of disability 

in admission of its programs, 

services, or activities, in access to 

them, in treatment of individuals 

with disabilities, or in any aspect of 

their operations. 

Employment:  MAPA does not 

discriminate on the basis of 

disability in its hiring or 

employment practices and 

complies with all regulations 

promulgated by the U.S. Equal 

Employment Opportunity 

Commission under Title I of the 

ADA and Section 504 of the 

Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 

Effective Communication: MAPA 

will, upon request, provide 

appropriate aids and services 

leading to effective 

communication for qualified 

persons with disabilities so they 

can participate equally in MAPA's 

programs, services, and activities, 

including qualified sign language 

interpreters, documents in Braille, 

and other ways of making 

information and communication 

Reasonable Accommodation 

Procedures  

Title I of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 

1990 (the "ADA") requires an employer to 

reasonable to 

qualified individuals with disabilities who are 

employees or for employment, 

unless to do so would cause undue 

hardship.  In general, an is 

change in the work or in 

the way things are customarily done that 

enables an with a disability to 

enjoy equal employment  

MAPA will make 

for the impairments of 

qualified individuals disabilities, 

consistent with the qualifications required 

for the essential functions of a particular 

unless the would 

cause undue hardship to 

Assurances  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 504 of 

the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29USC 794), 

MAPA desires to avail itself of federal financial 

assistance from the US Department of 

Transportation, herby gives assurance that no 

qualified disabled person shall, solely by 

reason of their disability, be excluded from 

participation in, be denied the benefits of, or 

otherwise subjected to discrimination, 

including discrimination in employment, 

under any program or activity that receives 

or benefits from this federal financial 

assistance.  

MAPA further assures that its programs will be 

conducted, and its facilities operated, in 

compliance with all requirements imposed by 

or pursuant to 49 CFR Part 27, 28 CFR Part 35 

and 42 USC 12101-12213.  

 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 24 

accessible to people who have speech, hearing, or vision impairments. 

Modifications to Policies and Procedures: MAPA will make all reasonable 

modifications to policies and programs to ensure that people with disabilities have 

an equal opportunity to enjoy all of its programs, services, and activities. 

Anyone who requires an auxiliary aid or service for effective communication, or a 

modification of policies or procedures to participate in a program, service, or 

activity of MAPA should contact the office of the Title VI Coordinators, as soon as 

possible but no later than 48 hours before the scheduled event. 

The ADA does not require MAPA to take any action that would fundamentally alter 

the nature of its program or services, or impose an undue financial or administrative 

burden. 

Complaints that a program, service, or activity of MAPA is not accessible to persons 

with disabilities should be directed to the Title VI Coordinators. 

MAPA will not place a surcharge on a particular individual with a disability or any 

group of individuals with disabilities to cover the cost of providing auxiliary 

aids/services or reasonable modifications of policy, such as retrieving items from 

locations that are open to the public but are not accessible to persons who use 

wheelchairs. 

Authorities 
The federal authorities under which the provisions of this plan have been created are listed 

below: 

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, provides that "No 

otherwise qualified disabled individual in the United States, as defined in section 

7(6), shall, solely by reason of his disability, be excluded for the participation in, be 

denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or 

activity receiving Federal financial assistance." 

29 USC 794 (October 29, 1992 to the Rehabilitation Act of 1973) substitutes "a 

disability" for "handicaps" and "disability" for "handicap". 

49 CFR Part 27.13 (Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability in Programs and 

Activities Receiving or Benefiting from Federal Financial Assistance) states, "This part 

applies to each recipient of Federal financial assistance from the Department of 

Transportation and to each program or activity that receives or benefits from such 

assistance". 

49 CFR Part 28.102 (Enforcement of Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability in 

Programs or Activities Conducted by the Department of Transportation) states, "This 

part applies to all programs or activities conducted by the Department of 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 25 

Transportation except for programs and activities conducted outside the United 

States that do not involve individuals with disabilities in the United States." 

28 CFR Part 35 (Judicial Administration) states that: "The purpose of this part is to 

effectuate Subtitle A of Title II of the ADA which prohibits discrimination on the basis 

of disabilities by public entities. 

49 CFR part 27 (Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability in Programs and Activities 

Receiving or Benefiting from Federal Financial Assistance) states, 'The purpose of this 

part is to carry out the intent of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 USC 

794) as amended, to the end that no otherwise qualified disabled individual in the 

United States shall, solely by reason of his or her disability, be excluded from the 

participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under 

any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance." 

49 CFR Part 28-140 (Employment) states that, "(a) No qualified individual with 

disabilities shall, on the basis of disability, be subjected to discrimination in 

employment under any program or activity conducted by the Department," and "(b) 

The definitions, requirements, and procedures of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act 

of 1973 (29 USC 791), as established by the Equal Employment Opportunity 

Commission in 29 CFR part 1613, shall apply to employment in federally conducted 

programs or activities. 

29 CFR Part 1613 (Equal Employment Opportunity in the Federal Government) states 

that: "It is the policy of the Government of the United States. .. to provide equal 

opportunity in employment for all persona to prohibit discrimination in employment 

because of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin and to promote the full 

realization of equal employment opportunity through a continuing affirmative 

program in each agency." 

42 USC Part 12101-12213 (The Americans with Disabi l i t ies Act of 1990) states that: "No 

covered entity shall discriminate against a qualified individual with a disability 

because of the disability of such individual in regard to job application procedures, 

the hiring, advancement, or discharge of employees, employee compensation, job 

training, and other terms, conditions, and privileges of employment." 

 

 

  



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 26 

Disabled Population Demographics  
Table 2.2 provides a summary of the disabled population in In the Omaha-Council 

Bluffs Metro Area. Based on 

American Community Survey data, 

there are approximately 86,000 

people who are considered 

disabled, most of these people are concentrated in the North Eastern section of 

Omaha city and the urban portion of Pottawattamie County. Figure 2.6 below shows 

the geographic distribution of the population over 65 years of age. 

Northeastern Omaha is well served by Metro Transit’s fixed route service presently and 

is within the ¾ mile buffer of fixed route sserver in which Metro’s MOBY demand 

response paratransit service operates. Additionally, MAPA’s Coordinated Transit 

Committee continues to work with local stakeholders and non-profit transit providers to 

expand the mobility of elderly and disabled populations with limited mobility. 

 

 

Total TMA Population Disabled Percent 

924,495 86,000 9% 

Table 2.2 – TMA Population with a Disability 

 

Figure 2.6 – TMA Population with a Disability 

 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 27 

 

Grievance Procedure  
This Grievance Procedure is established to meet the requirements of the American 

with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA). It may be used by anyone who wishes to file a 

complaint alleging discrimination on the basis of disability in the provision of services, 

activities, programs, or benefits by MAPA. MAPA's Personnel Policies and 

Procedures govern employment-related complaints of disability discrimination. 

The complaint should be in writing and contain information about the alleged 

discrimination such as name, address, phone number of complainant and location, 

date, and description of problem. Alternative means of filing complaints, such as 

personal interviews or a tape recording of the complaint will be made available for 

persons with disabilities upon request. 

The complaint should be submitted by the grievant and/or his/her designee as soon 

as possible but no later than 60 calendars days after the alleged violation to: 

MAPA ADA Coordinator 

c/o: MAPA Title VI Coordinators 

2222 Cuming Street 

Omaha, NE 68102 

(402) 444-6866 x216 

titlevi@mapacog.org 
 

Within 15 working days after receipt of the complaint, the ADA Coordinator and the 

Executive Director or his designee will meet with the complainant to discuss the 

complaint and the possible resolutions. Within 15 working days of the meeting, the 

ADA Coordinator will respond in writing, and where appropriate, in a format 

accessible to the complainant, such as large print, Braille, or audio tape. The 

response will explain the position of MAPA and offer options for substantive 

resolution of the complaint. 

If the response by the ADA Coordinator and the Executive Director or his designee 

does not satisfactorily resolve the issue, the complainant or his/her designee may 

appeal the decision within 15 working days after receipt of the response to the 

MAPA Board of Directors. 

Within 15 working days after receipt of the appeal, the MAPA Board of Directors will 

meet with the complainant to discuss the complaint and possible resolutions.  Within 

15 working days after the meeting, the MAPA Board of Directors will respond in 

writing, and where appropriate, in a format accessible to the complainant, with a 

final resolution of the complaint. 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 28 

All written complaints received by the ADA Coordinator, the MAPA Executive 

Director or his designee, appeals to the MAPA Board of Directors, and responses 

from these individuals and the Board offices will be retained by MAPA for at least 

three (3) years. 

ADA Coordinator Responsibilities  
MAPA’s Title VI Coordinators are designated as ADA Coordinator and reports to the 

MAPA Executive Director. 

1.  Serve as the principal coordinator for MAPA's ADA programs, policies, and 

procedures relating to compliance; 

2.  Publicize the name and contact information of the designated ADA Coordinator 

responsible to oversee compliance; 

3.  Draft and ensure dissemination of policies to employees regarding the provision 

of equal opportunity for persons with disabilities; 

4.  Establish a complaint grievance procedure to respond to complaints of 

noncompliance from employees as well as the general public; 

5.  Maintain current knowledge and information regarding state and federal laws 

and regulations concerning the rights of individuals with disabilities and ways of 

providing reasonable accommodation as well as relating to employment policies 

and practices of employees with disabilities. 

6.  Provide ADA program and facility interpretation and advice on compliance to 

all sectors of MAPA; 

7.  Serve as a point of contact for all matters related to ADA (including facility 

accessibility), and serve as the conduit for information for compliance reporting for 

other MAPA staff; 

8.  Coordinate with and assist Program Managers on complaints alleging 

discrimination and non compliance under the ADA and other applicable federal 

and state laws regarding discrimination on the basis of disability; 

9.  Ensure prompt and equitable resolution of complaints and inquiries from MAPA 

employees as well as the general public regarding discrimination on the basis of 

disability; and 

10. Maintain a record of all disability and accommodation issues and the resolution 

of each. 

 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 29 

Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Self-Assessment  
MAPA will routinely conduct an initial self-evaluation and if areas of non-

compliance are identified, a Transition Plan will be created, and all needed 

modifications will be addressed.  

As a part of the development of this Title VI Plan, MAPA conducted a self-assessment 

of its facilities and activities to ensure compliance with the Americans with Disabilities 

Act. The results of that self-assessment are included in this section and have been 

organized into the two following categories: 

 Facilities – A review of the accessibility of  MAPA’s administrative offices 

 Programming – An review of MAPA’s public participation activities, grant funding, and 

other activities  

 

MAPA has renewed and approved its policy statement for ADA activities as a part of 

the development of this plan.  

Facilities  

MAPA’s administrative offices are located in Metro Transit’s main office and bus 

garage. Metro Transit is the transit authority for the City of Omaha and is also a 

designated recipient of Federal Transportation funding. As a part of its Triennial Review 

with the Federal Transit Administration, Metro Transit certified the ADA compliance of 

all of Metro’s facilities– including the office building where MAPA is located. 

MAPA holds many of its public and stakeholder meetings at its offices– including the 

meetings for the MAPA Board of Directors, Citizens Advisory Council and Transportation 

Technical Advisory Committee. Additionally, public access to MAPA staff and records 

would be accessible to residents with disabilities and mobility issues at this location as 

well. If MAPA or Metro undertakes renovation, it will complete modifications within 

the requirements of the regulations. 

Programing  

There are many activities in which MAPA is involved that have are impacted by the 

ADA and its goals. These activities are categorized in the sections below. Generally, 

MAPA’s Coordinated Transit planning activities and its Public Participation policies 

have the greatest direct impact on interaction with persons with disabilities, but the 

needs of disabled populations are considered in all planning processes. 

Coordinated Transit Activities  

The Omaha-Council Bluffs Metropolitan Area Planning Agency (MAPA) became the 

Designated Recipient of FTA Section 5310 program funds in 2013. The activities of this 

program are guided by the Coordinated Transit Plan that was updated in 2014. 

The Coordinated Transit Plan was derived from the efforts of local stakeholders and the 

public. It is meant to provide information to the general public, local jurisdictions, and 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 30 

agencies to develop eligible transportation projects to meet the transportation needs 

of the elderly, those with disabilities, and economically disadvantaged.  

The Program Management Plan (PMP) provides the formal guidance on the eligibility 

requirements for Section 5310 projects and the process by which funds are awarded. 

Section 5310 funding may be used for “Traditional” capital projects and “Other/New 

Freedom” projects. Activities that directly impact the mobility of the elderly and 

people with disabilities are explicitly eligible in both categories of funding. 

Additionally, MAPA will seek written certification of compliance pertaining to ADA 

directives from approved applicants during the FTA Certification and Assurances 

process. MAPA, in turn, will make all documents related to ADA reporting part of the 

permanent file of the project. This documentation will include information regarding 

the ADA accessibility of vehicles purchased through the 5310 program and executed, 

contracted assurances for sub-recipients. 

ADA requirements pertaining to MAPA’s Section 5310 program activities are monitored 

using a Program Checklist that is included as a part of the PMP. 

Public Participation  

Public participation is a critical component of the transportation planning process. 

MAPA’s Public Participation Plan (PPP) provides the overarching framework for the 

agency’s outreach efforts and compliance with relevant federal guidance. In 

general, MAPA’s outreach philosophy seeks to maximize opportunities for the public to 

be involved in its planning initiatives.  

An extensive checklist was developed to document the accessibility of all locations 

used for public meetings and MAPA events. This check-list includes physical 

characteristics of the meeting facilities (walkways, ramps, sidewalks, etc.) in addition 

to transportation services available to members of the public with disabilities or limited 

mobility (e.g. the availability of transit service). 

Additionally, all meeting announcements will include a sentence informing the 

general public that auxiliary aids and services (sign language interpreters, oral 

interpreting services, audio listening device system, etc.) are available when 

requested in advance. 

These measures are described in more detail in MAPA’s PPP and ensure that MAPA’s 

public meetings are open and accessible to all residents of the region– including those 

with disabilities.  

 

  



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 31 

Chapter 5 – Limited English Proficiency  

Overview  
While most individuals in the United States read, 

write, speak and understand English, there are 

many individuals whose primary language is not 

English. Individuals who do not speak English as 

their primary language and who have a limited 

ability to read, write, speak or understand 

English are considered by federal law to be 

limited English proficient, or “LEP.” This language 

barrier may prevent individuals from accessing 

services and benefits and they may be entitled 

to language assistance with respect to a 

particular type or service, benefit, or encounter. 

Within the MAPA region, much of the LEP 

population is concentrated in low-income and 

high-minority areas of the region. Figure 5.1 

below illustrates areas in which a 

disproportionately high number of LEP speakers 

are concentrated in a particular census tract. 

These population centers are largely 

concentrated in the core of the region, with 

areas in Douglas, Sarpy and Pottawattamie 

Counties.  

An analysis conducted by PolicyLink as a part 

of MAPA’s Heartland 2050 regional planning 

effort noted that communities of color have 

been and will continue to drive population growth within the MAPA region. As such it is 

critical that these communities have are able to fully participate in the planning and 

decision-making about transportation investments within the MAPA region. The 

analysis and accommodation strategies detailed in this chapter reflect MAPA’s 

commitment to ensuring that these communities have full access to the transportation 

planning process and services. 

 

Limited English Proficiency 

LEP Executive Order 13166: 

Improving Access to Services for 

Persons with Limited English 

Proficiency. The LEP Executive 

Order (Executive Order 13166) 

ensures that, consistent with Title 

VI, persons with Limited English 

Proficiency ("LEP") have 

meaningful access to federally 

conducted and federally 

funded programs and activities.  

The Order requires all agencies 

that provide Federal financial 

assistance to issue guidance on 

how Title VI applies to recipients 

of that assistance in their 

contact with persons who are 

LEP. The Order also requires that 

Federal agencies create plans 

for ensuring that their own 

activities also provide 

meaningful access for persons 

who have LEP. 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 32 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

F
ig

u
re

 5
.1

 –
 O

v
e

rv
ie

w
 o

f 
D

is
p

ro
p

o
rt

io
n

a
te

ly
 H

ig
h

 C
o

n
c

e
n

tr
a

ti
o

n
s 

o
f 

LE
P

 P
o

p
u

la
ti
o

n
s 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 33 

 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 34 

Four – Factor Analysis  
In accordance with Executive Order 13166, MAPA conducted the four-factor analysis 

recommended by the U.S. Department of Transportation to determine the level and 

extent of language assistance measures. The steps within this analysis are briefly 

described in the list below.  

 Number or Proportion of LEP Persons “Served or Encountered” in the MAPA 

Region. In this section, MAPA analyzes regional demographic data to determine 

which language groups have significant populations of LEP speakers within the 

MAPA region. This analysis provides key information about the language groups 

for which MAPA’s strategies should be oriented. 

 Frequency of Contact with MAPA’s Programs & Services. MAPA describes the 

historical contact it has had with different language groups, including any 

requests for translation in this section. 

 Nature and Importance of MAPA’s Activities or Programs. As MAPA is responsible 

for decisions about transportation investments, it’s critical that LEP populations 

have access to important planning processes. This section details MAPA’s 

approach to LEP accommodation for various transportation planning products 

and outreach activities. 

 Availability of Resources & Accommodation Costs. In this section, MAPA 

provides an estimate of costs associated with LEP accommodation activities. 

 

These steps provide a detailed description of the relationship between the LEP 

populations in the Omaha-Council Bluffs Region and MAPA’s activities. The data and 

information included as a part of this analysis provides MAPA with a good framework 

for increasing access to the transportation planning process and accommodating the 

needs of LEP persons within the MAPA region. 

Factor 1 – Number and Proportion of LEP Persons in the MAPA Region  
To quantify the needs of LEP persons within the Omaha-Council Bluffs region, MAPA 

staff conducted a demographic analysis of American Community Survey (ACS) data 

to assess the number and proportion of LEP residents. A summary of this analysis is 

included in Table 5.1 (below). 

Generally, the vast majority of residents in the MAPA region live in English-only 

households (88.8%). However, of the households that speak a language other than 

English at home, nearly half speak English less than “very well”. Thus, while most people 

 Total Percentage 

TMA  Population (5 Years and Older) 872,662 – 

Spoke only English at Home 774,742 88.8% 

Language Other than English Spoken at Home  11.2% 

Persons who Speak English Less than "Very Well" 97,920 3.6% 

Table 5.1 – Overview of Limited English Proficiency in the MAPA TMA 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 35 

who are likely to be impacted by MAPA’s planning activities or services speak English, 

those who speak a different language at home are much more likely to have difficulty 

understanding oral or written information provided by MAPA in English. As such, this 

need is an important consideration of accommodation strategies discussed later in this 

chapter. 

While the LEP needs of the region as a whole are substantial, the great variation of 

language groups within the MAPA region makes accommodation more difficult since 

resources must be spread out over numerous language groups. Table 4.2 on the next 

page details the total number of speakers by language group and the number of 

speakers within that group that have identified as LEP. The calculated percentage in 

this table is the proportion LEP persons in a language group based on the total 

population of the TMA aged 5 years or above (872,662). 

As a part of this analysis, MAPA noted that Spanish language speakers comprise 

around 69% of persons who speak English less than “very well”. The next three highest 

single language categories, when combined, comprise around 11% of the total 

population of persons who speak English less than “very well” in the MAPA region. 

Based on this analysis, MAPA determined that the Spanish language speakers 

comprise the most significant portion of LEP persons within the MAPA region and that 

this group would require special attention as a part of the agency’s accommodation 

efforts. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 36 

 

 

 

 

 

Language Group Total Language Speakers 

Speak English Less 

Than "Very Well" 

Less than "Very 

Well" Percentage 

Spanish or Spanish Creole 59,140 28,161 48 

Other Asian Languages 4,777 1,958 41 

African Languages 3,255 1,314 40 

French 3,411 824 24 

Vietnamese 2,494 1,491 60 

German 2,073 344 17 

Chinese 2,053 1,262 61 

Other Indic Languages 1,842 1,104 60 

Arabic 2,002 904 45 

Italian 726 196 27 

Hindi 985 192 19 

Tagalog 1,019 346 34 

Japanese 655 145 

 

22 

Korean 822 353 43 

Other Indo-European Languages 520 105 20 

 Other and Unspecified Languages 602 504 84 

Russian 635 215 34 

Polish 395 87 22 

Persian 519 345 66 

Thai 476 210 44 

Other Native North American Languages 508 78 15 

Portuguese 519 159 31 

Other Slavic Languages 588 138 23 

Urdu 221 43 19 

Other Pacific Island Languages 272 46 17 

Serbo-Croatian 267 84 31 

Scandinavian Languages 170 16 9 

Gujarati 358 101 28 

Greek 204 62 30 

Other West Germanic Languages 92 26 28 

Yiddish 51 15 29 

 Hebrew 58 0 0 

Table 3. 2 – Summary of English Proficiency in the MAPA TMA, by Language Group 

Table 5. 2 – Summary of English Proficiency in the MAPA TMA, by Language Group 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 37 

 

 

Factor 2 – Frequency of Contact with MAPA’s Programs and Services  
To date, MAPA has not received a request for translation nor had any LEP person 

attend any MAPA public meeting.  However, MAPA’s Public Participation Plan notes 

continued efforts to improve outreach and develop contacts in LEP areas. 

Through Heartland 2050’s Equity & Engagement Committee, MAPA engaged with 

many organizations and individuals from traditionally-underrepresented communities. 

The Equity and Engagement Committee focused on identifying key strategies that 

would ensure that all residents of the Omaha-Council Bluffs region have “full and 

equal access to access opportunities that enable them to achieve their full potential. 

Through efforts such as these and with targeted outreach during the transportation 

planning process, MAPA’s contact with LEP populations is likely to grow.  

Additionally, demographic shifts within the Omaha-Council Bluffs region are going 

increase the frequency with which MAPA makes contact with minority communities. 

Figure 5.2 (left) illustrates a projection of the MAPA region’s racial and ethnic 

composition by the Year 2040. These shifts reflect continued growth in the population 

of minority communities– 

particularly in the case of 

the largely Hispanic Latino 

population. As such, it is 

critical that members of 

these racial and ethnic 

communities are involved 

in the planning processes 

about the future in which 

they will comprise a much 

greater portion of the 

population.  

Language Group Total Language Speakers 

Speak English Less Than 

"Very Well" 

Less than "Very Well" 

Percentage 

French Creole 105 0 0 

Hmong 172 53 31 

Mon-Khmer, Cambodian 86 37 43 

 Laotian 74 43 58 

Hungarian 2 0 0 

 Armenian 0 0 0 

 

 

 

 

Table 5. 2 – Summary of English Proficiency in the MAPA TMA, by Language Group continued) 

Figure 5.2 – Projected Racial & Ethnic Composition of MAPA MSA 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 38 

Factor 3 – Nature and Importance of MAPA’s Activities or Programs  
MAPA’s main function is to support cooperative and comprehensive transportation 

planning, as outlined in the federal transportation legislation. In this capacity, MAPA 

develops three main documents:  

 Long Range Transportation Plan (LRTP) 

 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP)  

 Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP) 

As the agency responsible for coordinating the regional transportation planning 

process, MAPA must ensure that all segments of the population, including LEP persons, 

have the opportunity to be involved in the planning process.  

The primary purpose of the transportation network of the region is to facilitate the 

movement of people and products. The health and vitality of the region depends on 

how well the transportation network functions. All people, including the LEP 

population, in the region rely on the network to get to work, hospitals, school, and 

other essential daily trips. It is important that all constituents have meaningful access 

the planning process and an opportunity to express their needs. Without such an 

opportunity the system could fail to meet their needs and hinder their quality of life. 

The Long Range Transportation Plan (LRTP) sets forth a regional policy and planning 

framework to guide decision-making regarding the growth and development of the 

MAPA TMA. The TIP is a program or schedule of short-range transportation 

improvements and activities intended to be implemented through a combination of 

state, federal and local funding. The UPWP outlines tasks to be performed in the 

upcoming year and includes planning activities that range from transportation, 

community development, and land use planning initiatives. 

MAPA is committed to ensuring that the agency’s planning projects and activities are 

accessible to all citizens within the MAPA TMA; therefore, throughout planning 

processes, staff takes all appropriate and reasonable measures to reach the LEP 

community. 

Factor 4 – Availability of Resources and Accommodation Costs  
 In the past, MAPA has budgeted between $5,000 and $10,000 thousand dollars 

annually for report and document production. MAPA has identified Spanish language 

translation as an important consideration for accommodating the predominantly 

Spanish-speaking LEP population in the Omaha-Council Bluffs metro area. Document 

translation cost estimates in the Table 5.3 below are based on recent translation 

services secured through MAPA’s Heartland 2050 effort.  

 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 39 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Based on this analysis, full Spanish language document translation services would 

require a significant increase in financial resources currently committed to these 

activities. The cost of translation services precludes MAPA from full translation services 

for hard copies of all key documents, though there are digital translation services 

provided on the MAPA website. Additionally, accommodating additional language 

groups would be cost prohibitive based on the limited frequency with which MAPA 

has historically interacted with different communities. 

 

 

  

 

Number of Words Cost  ($0.30/word) 

Transportation Improvement Program 21,423 $6,427 

Long Range Transportation Plan (2035) 80,475 $24,143 

Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP) 10,586 $3,176 

Public Participation Plan 18,333 $5,500 

 
130,817 $39,245 

Table 5. 3 – Estimated Costs Associated with Spanish Language Translation of MAPA Documents 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 40 

Appendices 
  



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 41 

Appendix A: Title VI Complaint Form 
 

Title VI Non-Discrimination Complaint Form 

This form may be used to file a complaint with the Omaha-Council Bluffs Metropolitan Area Planning Agency 

(MAPA) pursuant to discrimination laws, rules and regulations, including, but not limited to, Title VI of the Civil 

Rights Act of 1964, Executive Order 13166, “Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited English 

Proficiency” and the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. 

If you need assistance completing this form, please contact us by phone at 402-444-6866, or fax 402-342-0949 

and ask for a Title VI Coordinator. 

Feel free to add additional pages if necessary.  You are not required to use this form; a signed letter that 

provides the same information is sufficient to file your complaint. 

Complaints of discrimination must be filed within 180 days of the alleged discrimination. 

This form MUST be completed by the complainant or the complainant’s designated representative. 

 

Complainant’s Personal Information: 

Name:          

Address:         

City:       State:      Zip Code:    

Phone: (home/work)       (cell)       

Name of the person completing this form, if different from above: 

Your relationship to the complainant indicated above: 

 

Alleged Discrimination – Details of Complaint 

I. Identify the agency, department or program that discriminated: 

Agency and/or department name: 

Name of any individual, if known: 

City:    State:   Zip: 

Phone: (Work)     (Fax) 

Date(s) of the alleged act: 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 42 

Date alleged discrimination began: 

Last or most recent date of alleged discrimination: 

II. What is the basis for this complaint?   

If your complaint is in regard to discrimination in the delivery of services or discrimination that involved the 

treatment of you or others by the agency or department indicated above, please indicate below the basis on 

which you believe these discriminatory actions were taken. 

Example:  If you believe that you are discriminated against because you are African American, you would 

mark the box labeled “Race/Color” and write “African American” in the space provided. 

Example:  If you believe the discrimination occurred because you are female, you would mark the box 

labeled “Gender” and write “female” in the space provided. 

Check all that apply: 

  Race/Color      Religion 

  National Origin     Age 

  Gender     Disability 

 

III. Explain what happened: 

Please explain as clearly as possible what happened.  Provide the name(s) of witnesses, fellow employees, 

supervisors, and others involved in the alleged discrimination.  Please include all information that you feel is 

relevant to the investigation.  (Attach additional sheets if necessary and provide a copy of any written materials 

pertaining to your complaint.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

IV. How can this/these issue(s) be resolved to your satisfaction? 

 

 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 43 

 

 

 

V. What is the most convenient time and place for use to contact you about this complaint? 

 

 

 

 

 

VI. If we are not able to reach you directly, please give us the name and phone number of a 

person who can reach you and/or provide information about your complaint: 

 

Name:          

Telephone Number:  (        )       

 

VII. If you have an attorney representing you concerning the matter raised in this complaint, 

please provide the following: 

 

Name of Attorney:        

Address:         

          

          
 

Telephone Number:  (         )       
 
 
 
             
Your Signature      Date 
 
Note:  The laws enforced by this agency prohibit retaliation or intimidation against anyone because the 
individual has either taken action or participated in action to secure rights protected by these laws.  If you 



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 44 

experience retaliation or intimidation separate from the discrimination alleged in this complaint or if you have 
questions regarding the completion of this form, please contact: 
 
Title VI Coordinator 
Omaha-Council Bluffs Metropolitan Area Planning Agency 
2222 Cuming Street 
Omaha, NE 68102 
Phone:  (402) 444-6866 Ext. 216; Fax:  (402) 342-0949 

  



MAPA Title VI Policy & Procedure 

 

Page 45 

Appendix B: Summary of Comments 
 

Question or Comment Response or Clarification 

Need to clarify state and federal roles in the Title 

VI complaint procedure 

Role of the FHWA Office of Civil Rights in 

investigating Title VI complaints was clarified in 

the complaint procedure included in Chapter 3 

Contact information for Title VI Coordinator(s) Individual employees are not identified in the text 

of this plan. Contact information for MAPA Title VI 

Coordinator(s) will be posted in print at the MAPA 

office and will be maintained online on MAPA’s 

website to ensure it is always up to date. An 

email address, titlevi@mapacog.org, will be 

maintained to ensure electronic comments are 

forwarded to the correct staff member(s). 

Clarification or who receives ADA complaints Complaints on the basis of disability 

discrimination may be submitted through the Title 

VI complaint procedure identified in Chapter 3. A 

separate grievance procedure is outlined in 

Chapter 4 that relates to accommodations as 

part of MAPA’s plans and programs. 

What strategies are identified for outreach 

groups identified in this plan? 

The MAPA Public Participation Plan includes a 

detailed set of outreach strategies to maximize 

the participation of traditionally 

underrepresented populations. These strategies 

vary based on the plan or program that is being 

implemented. 

Organizations identified as providing services to 

underrepresented populations were also invited 

to participate in the Resource Agency & 

Interested Party workshop held in January 2015, 

as a part of the development of this plan. 

How is MAPA addressing language barriers in the 

community? 

MAPA currently has a notice on meeting 

announcements regarding the availability of 

translation services. Detailed strategies regarding 

outreach and accommodation for LEP 

populations are included in Chapter 5 of this plan 

and also in the Public Participation Plan. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

mailto:titlevi@mapacog.org


Council of Officials

MAPA Board / EDD Board

Transportation 
Technical Advisory 

Cmte. (TTAC)

RPA-18
Rural Pott. 

Mills
Harrison
Shelby

Smart 
Cities

GOC
Trans 

Council

Regional Planning 
Advisory Cmte. 

(RPAC)

- ProSe-Com
- TAP-C
- Coordinated Transit

Transportation
Planning

Regional 
Planning

MAPA 
RLF Loan

Committee

Economic 
Dvmt.

( Coordination )

GOC
Prosper
Omaha

Potential RPAC Responsibilities:
- Review and make recommendations on MAPA LRTP to MAPA 

Board
- Review and make recommendations on Regional Vision Goals 

and Strategies to MAPA Board 
- Oversee, create, and disband subcommittees and work groups 
- Review and recommend Grant and Funding Opportunities to 

MAPA Board and member jurisdictions
- Provide updates on local planning and development 
- Coordinate data and monitor progress for regional growth and 

development 
- Serve as liaison to local communities and organizations 

Subcommittees & 
Work Groups
CEDS Work Group
Equity and Engagement
Grant Review
Housing & Development
Infrastructure
- Nodes & Corridors 
- Financing
- Autonomous / Future 
Tech.
- Utilities Planning 
Natural Resources
- Solid Waste
- Local Foods

- Air Quality / Little Steps

Potential RPAC Membership:  (voting TBD)
- MAPA City and County Planning representatives
- Chamber of Commerce
- Utilities 
- Low income and minority community representatives 
- Subcommittee / work group chairs
- Development & real estate industry representatives  

( Coordination )


	agenda-March.18 with links
	Item B
	Item C
	Item F.1
	Item F.2
	1102_001.pdf

	Item G.1
	Item H.1.a
	Item H.1.b
	Item H.2
	UPWP_FY19 - Draft Narrative
	UPWP_FY19 - Draft Budget

	Item H.3
	Item J.1

